NUREG/CR-6230 PNL-9444

Radioanalytical Technology for 10 CFR Part 61 and Other Selected Radionuclides

Literature Review

Prepared by C. W. Thomas, V. W. Thomas, D. E. Robertson

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Operated by Battelle Memorial Institute

Prepared for U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

AVAILABILITY NOTICE

Availability of Reference Materials Cited in NRC Publications

Most documents cited in NRC publications will be available from one of the following sources:

1. The NRC Public Document Room, 2120 L Street, NW., Lower Level, Washington, DC 20555-0001

- 2. The Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, P.O. Box 37082, Washington, DC 20402-9328
- 3. The National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161-0002

Although the listing that follows represents the majority of documents cited in NRC publications, it is not intended to be exhaustive.

Referenced documents available for inspection and copying for a fee from the NRC Public Document Room include NRC correspondence and internal NRC memoranda; NRC bulletins, circulars, information notices, inspection and investigation notices; licensee event reports; vendor reports and correspondence; Commission papers; and applicant and licensee documents and correspondence.

The following documents in the NUREG series are available for purchase from the Government Printing Office: formal NRC staff and contractor reports, NRC-sponsored conference proceedings, international agreement reports, grantee reports, and NRC booklets and brochures. Also available are regulatory guides, NRC regulations in the Code of Federal Regulations, and Nuclear Regulatory Commission Issuances.

Documents available from the National Technical Information Service include NUREG-series reports and technical reports prepared by other Federal agencies and reports prepared by the Atomic Energy Commission, forerunner agency to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

Documents available from public and special technical libraries include all open literature items, such as books. Journal articles, and transactions. *Federal Register* notices. Federal and State legislation, and congressional reports can usually be obtained from these libraries.

Documents such as theses, dissertations, foreign reports and translations, and non-NRC conference proceedings are available for purchase from the organization sponsoring the publication cited.

Single copies of NRC draft reports are available free, to the extent of supply, upon written request to the Office of Administration, Distribution and Mail Services Section, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001.

Copies of industry codes and standards used in a substantive manner in the NRC regulatory process are maintained at the NRC Library. Two White Flint North, 11545 Rockville Pike, Rockville, MD 20852-2738, for use by the public. Codes and standards are usually copyrighted and may be purchased from the originating organization or, if they are American National Standards, from the American National Standards Institute. 1430 Broadway, New York, NY 10018-3308.

DISCLAIMER NOTICE

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for any third party's use, or the results of such use, of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed in this report, or represents that its use by such third party would not infringe privately owned rights. •

NUREG/CR-6230 PNL-9444

FINL-2444 And Andrewson Antreast and Andrewson Antreast and Andrewson and Antreast and Andrewson and Antreast and Andrewson a

Radioanalytical Technology for 10 CFR Part 61 and Other Selected Radionuclides

Literature Review

Manuscript Completed: January 1996 Date Published: March 1996

Prepared by C. W. Thomas, V. W. Thomas, D. E. Robertson

Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352

P. R. Reed, NRC Project Manager

Prepared for Division of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555–0001 NRC Job Code L1808

Disclaimer

NUREG/CR-6230 is not a substitute for NRC regulations and compliance is not required. The approaches and/or methods described in this NUREG/CR are provided for information only. Publication of this report does not necessarily constitute NRC approval or agreement with the information contained herein.

.

· •:

.....

11 . . .

₹.,

.

•

• .

. '

Abstract

A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴C, ⁶⁰Co, ^{59,63}Ni, ⁹⁰Sr, ⁹⁴Nb, ⁹⁹Tc, ¹²⁹I, ¹³⁷Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10}Be, ²⁶A1, ³⁶C1, ⁹³Mo, ^{109,113m}Cd, and ^{121m,126}Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations.

Contents

. .

Contents

- -----

Ab	stract	ш
Sun	nmary	ix
1	Introduction	1
2	Procedures and Technology Currently Being Used	
	for Radiochemical Analysis of Reactor Wastes	5
	2.1 Aluminum-26	5
	2.2 Americium-Curium	5
	2.3 Beryllium-7,-10	5
	2.4 Cadmium 109,-113m	6
	2.5 Carbon-14	6
	2.6 Chlorine-36	6
	2.7 Iodine-129	7
	2.8 Molybdenum-93	7
	2.9 Neptunium-237	7
	2.10 NICKEI-39,-03	ð
	2.11 Nioolulli-9511,-94	0
	2.12 Flatomum-258,-259,-240,-241	9
	2.13 Subman-90	10
	2.15 Liquid Scintillation	11
3	Recent Chemical and Radiochemical Procedures	
5	Potentially Applicable for Reactor Waste Analysis	14
	3.1 Aluminum	14
	3.2 Americium-Curium	14
	3.3 Beryllium	14
	3.4 Cadmium	14
	3.5 Carbon-14	14
	3.6 Chlorine-36	15
	3.7 Iodine-129	15
	3.8 Molybdenum; Mo-93	15
	3.9 Nickel; Ni-63	16
	3.10 Plutonium	16
	3.11 Strontium-90	16
	3.12 Technetium-99	17
	3.13 IIn; Sn-121m,-126	17
	3.14 Iransuranics	1/
	2.16 Gamma Day Spectroscopy	10
	5.10 Jamma-Kay Specifoscopy	10

Contents

.

4	New	Technology Potentially Applicable for Reactor Waste Analysis
	4.1	Novel Chromatographic Chemicals
	4.2	ICP-MS
	4.3	Accelerator Mass Spectrometer
5	Refer	rences
App	endix	A: Summary of PNNL Radiochemical Procedures for 10 CFR Part 61
		and Additional Long-Lived Radionuclides
	A.1	Aluminum-26
	A.2	Beryllium-10
	A.3	Cadmium-109,-113m
	A.4	Carbon-14
	A.5	Chlorine-36 A-1
	A.6	Iodine-129
	A.7	Molybdenum-93
	A.8	Neptunium-237
	A.9	Nickel-59,-63
	A.10	Niobium-93m,-94
	A.11	Strontium-90
	A.12	Technetium-99
	A.13	Tin-121m,-126
	A.14	Transuranics
	A.15	Tritium
Арр	oendix	B: References to Procedures That Might Be Further
	-	Adapted to Analyze Radioactive WastesB-1
	B.1	Aluminum-26
	B.2	Americium-Curium
	B.3	Beryllium-10B-1
	B.4	Cadmium; Cd-113m,-115 B-1
	B.5	Carbon-14
	B.6	Chlorine-36 B-1
	B.7	Iodine-129
	B.8	Molybdenum; Mo-93 B-2
	B.9	NeptuniumB-2
	B.10	Nickel; Ni-63
	B.11	Plutonium
	B.12	Strontium-90 B-3
	B.13	Technetium
	B.14	Tin
	B.15	Transuranics
	B.16	Liquid Scintillation

Contents

:

Figures

- -----

2.1.	Liquid Scintillation Spectrum Showing Separation of ²³⁹ Pu Alpha and ²⁴¹ Pu Beta	12
2.2.	Composite Liquid Scintillation Spectrum Showing 5.8 keV x-ray	
	from ⁵⁵ Fe and 28 keV Electron from ⁹³ "Nb	13

Tables

1.1.	Radionuclides in Table 1 of 10 CFR Part 61	2
1.2.	Radionuclides in Table 2 of 10 CFR Part 61	3
ì.3.	Additional radionuclides expected in low-level radioactive waste	3

.

Summary

Since promulgation of 10 CFR Part 61 ("Licensing Requirements for Land Disposal of Radioactive Waste") in 1982, other long-lived radionuclides not specified in Part 61 have been identified which may be of concern in activated metal wastes and perhaps other waste streams going to low-level waste disposal facilities. A more comprehensive radionuclide analysis of activated metal wastes is therefore warranted to ensure that these additional radionuclides do not pose a future problem to the protection of public health and safety. Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL) will analyze several reactor waste samples for the 10 CFR Part 61 and additional long-lived radionuclides. Several of these additional long-lived radionuclides are gamma emitters and will be determined by measurement of their characteristic gamma ray energies (e.g., ^{108m}Ag,¹³³Ba, and ^{152,154,155}Eu). However, the remainder decay primarily by low-energy emissions and require radiochemical separations prior to measurement. Appropriate scaling factors for these additional long-lived radionuclides also will be calculated, if they are measured in radioactive waste in significant quantities.

To ensure that PNNL's radioanalytical procedures for these analyses incorporate the latest methodology, a review of the literature was completed. This review was based primarily on an extensive survey of literature pertaining to the radiochemical analyses of 10 CFR Part 61 radionuclides and several additional hard-to-measure, long-lived radionuclides (10Be, 36Cl, 93mNb, 93Mo, 108mAg, 113mCd, ^{121m}Sn, and ¹²⁶Sn). Procedures and technology currently being used by various laboratories for analysis of reactor wastes are presented, as are other chemical and radiochemical procedures with potential for application to reactor waste analyses. Summaries of PNNL radioanalytical procedures for 10 CFR Part 61 and the additional long-lived radionuclides, as well as references to procedures that might be further adapted to analysis of reactor waste, are included as appendices.

1 Introduction

The technical requirements for disposal of low-level radioactive waste, as specified in the Code of Federal Regulations, 10 CFR Part 61 ("Licensing Requirements for Land Disposal of Radioactive Waste"), necessitate that low-level radioactive waste be characterized and classified before disposal. Waste classification involves the quantification of specified radionuclides (Tables 1.1 and 1.2) in the waste materials to comply with disposal requirements and site performance objectives.

In practice, nuclear power generating stations comply with 10 CFR Part 61 requirements by initially analyzing sufficient samples from each waste stream to demonstrate that concentrations of controlled radionuclides are consistently within error limits set by Part 61, over time, within each waste stream. For subsequent waste disposed of from a waste stream, Part 61 allows the use of scaling factors, derived from the initial analyses, to calculate estimates of the concentrations of the specified, hard-to-measure radionuclides. For calculation of subsequent estimates, the nuclear power stations analyze, onsite, periodic samples from the waste streams for the gamma-emitting radionuclides (e.g., ⁶⁰Co being representative of activation products and ¹³⁷Cs being representative of fission products). These qualitative analyses are combined with measurements of waste container dose rates, using handheld meters, to calculate the gamma-emitting radionuclide inventories within the container using various techniques such as point kernel shielding codes. Each predetermined radionuclide scaling factor is then multiplied by the measured concentration of the appropriate gamma-emitting radionuclide to estimate the concentration of the hard-tomeasure radionuclides in the waste being disposed of. The scaling factors for each waste stream are reevaluated annually by commercial laboratory radiochemical analyses of typical samples.

For a number of radionuclides (e.g., ¹⁴C, ¹²⁹I, and ⁹⁹Tc), the scaling factors used in the nuclear power industry have been overly conservative because the scaling factors were based either primarily on "less-than" values corresponding to the lower limits of detection of the analytical methods used by the commercial laboratories performing the analyses or, alternatively, on a few samples having unusually high concentrations of these radionuclides. These conservative assumptions have not generally influenced the classification status of the waste, but do artificially increase the inventories of ¹²⁹I and ⁹⁹Tc within waste containers and, subsequently, the total estimated inventories of these nuclides at disposal sites. The total

1

disposal site inventories of these radionuclides are often the controlling factors for the total quantities of radioactive waste permitted in a low-level waste shallow-land burial facility. Thus, an overly conservative estimate of the concentrations of these isotopes in low-level waste could lead to premature closure of a disposal facility. It is therefore critical that waste generators use the most accurate scaling factors possible.

Since promulgation, by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), of 10 CFR Part 61 on December 27, 1982, additional long-lived radionuclides (Table 1.3) have been identified that may be of concern in activated metal wastes and perhaps other wastes going to low-level waste disposal facilities. A more comprehensive radionuclide analysis of activated metal wastes is therefore warranted to ensure that these additional radionuclides do not pose a future problem to the protection of public health and safety. Appropriate scaling factors for these additional long-lived radionuclides will be calculated if they are measured in radioactive waste in significant quantities.

To ensure that radioanalytical procedures used by the Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL)¹ for these analyses incorporate the latest methodology, a review of the literature was completed. This review was based primarily on an extensive survey of literature pertaining to the radiochemical analyses of 10 CFR Part 61 radionuclides and several additional hard-to-measure, longlived radionuclides (i.e., ¹⁰Be, ³⁶Cl, ^{93m}Nb, ⁹³Mo, ^{108m}Ag, ^{113m}Cd, ^{121m}Sn, and ¹²⁶Sn). These radionuclides are not listed in Tables 1 or 2 of 10 CFR Part 61, but are anticipated as present in nuclear power station waste streams, and may be of concern for land disposal of low-level radioactive waste. Several of these additional long-lived radionuclides are gamma emitters and will be determined by measurement of their characteristic gamma ray energies (e.g., ^{108m}Ag, ¹³³Ba, and ^{152,154,155}Eu). However, the remainder decay primarily by low-energy emissions and require radiochemical separations before measurement.

¹Operated for the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) by Battelle Memorial Institute.

Introduction

Nuclide	Half-life (years)	Primary production mode	Principal waste materials
^{1₄} C	5730	¹⁴ N(n,p) ¹⁴ C ¹⁷ O(n,α) ¹⁴ C	activated metals (AM) dry solids dry active waste (DAW) dewatered resins
⁵⁹ Ni	75000	⁵⁸ Ni(n,γ) ⁵⁹ Ni	AM resins
⁹⁴ Nb	20300	⁹³ Nb(n,γ) ⁹⁴ Nb	AM (Inconel, steel)
⁹⁹ Tc	2.13 x 10 ⁵	⁹⁸ Mo(n,γ) ⁹⁹ Mo fission	resins activated Inconel dry solids DAW
¹²⁹ I	1.57 x 10 ⁷	fission	resins dry solids DAW
Alpha TRU		activation	resins, filters, control rod blades, burnable poison rods, resins, DAW, sorbed liquids, dry solids
²⁴¹ Pu	14.4	²³⁸ U(n _x capture) ²⁴¹ Pu ²³⁹ Pu(n _x capture) ²⁴¹ Pu	resins, filters, control rod blades, burnable poison rods, resins, DAW, sorbed liquids, dry solids
²⁴² Cm	0.446	²⁴¹ Pu (β [•] decay) ²⁴¹ Am ²⁴¹ Am(n,γ) ²⁴² Am(β [•]) ²⁴² Cm	resins, filters, control rod blades, burnable poison rods, resins, DAW, sorbed liquids, dry solids

Table 1.1. Radionuclides in Table 1 of 10 CFR Part 61

ļ

ł

.

Nuclide	Half-life (years)	Primary production mode	Principal waste materials
Ъ	12.3	⁶ Li(n,α) ³ H	dry solids, burnable poison rods, aqueous liquids
		²H(n,γ)³H	water
⁶⁰ Co	5.27	⁵⁹ Co(n,γ) ⁶⁰ Co	activated metals (AM), resins, filters, dry solids
⁶³ Ni	100.1	⁶² Ni(n,γ) ⁶³ Ni	AM, resins, filters
⁹⁰ Sr	28.5	fission	resins, DAW
¹³⁷ Cs	30.0	fission	resins, DAW, filters

Table 1.2. Radionuclides in Table 2 of 10 CFR Part 61

.

Table 1.3. Additional radionuclides expected in low-level radioactive waste

Nuclide	Half-life (years)	Primary production mode	Probable waste materials
10 _{Re}	16×10 ⁶	¹⁰ B(n n) ¹⁰ Be	B C control rode water
³⁶ Cl	3.01 x 10 ⁵	³⁵ Cl(n,γ) ³⁶ Cl	activated concrete, DAW, burnable poison rods
^{93m} Nb	13.6	⁹³ Nb(n,n') ^{93m} Nb	activated steel, Inconel
⁹³ Mo	3500	⁹² Mo(n,γ) ⁹³ Mo	activated steel, Inconel
^{108m} Ag	127	¹⁰⁷ Ag(n, γ) ^{108m} Ag	Ag-Cd-In control rods
113mCd	13.7	¹¹³ Cd(n,n') ^{113m} Cd	Ag-Cd-In control rods
^{121m} Sn	55	¹²⁰ Sn(n,γ) ^{121m} Sn	activated Zircaloy, resins
¹²⁶ Sn	1 x 10 ⁵	124 Sn(n, γ) 125 Sn(n, γ) 126 Sn	activated Zircaloy, resins
¹³³ Ba	10.54	¹³² Ba(n, γ) ¹³³ Ba	burnable poison rods, B₄C
¹⁵¹ Sm	90	¹⁵⁰ Sm(n, γ) ¹⁵¹ Sm	burnable poison rods, B_4C
¹⁵² Eu	13.33	$^{151}Eu(n,\gamma)^{152}Eu$	burnable poison rods, B_AC
¹⁵⁴ Eu	8.8	¹⁵³ Eu(n,γ) ¹⁵⁴ Eu	burnable poison rods, B_4C
		¹⁵² Sm(n,γ) ¹⁵³ Sm(β ⁻) ¹⁵³ Eu(n,γ) ¹⁵⁴ Eu	burnable poison rods, B_4C
¹⁵⁵ Eu	4.96	¹⁵⁴ Sm(n,γ) ¹⁵⁵ Sm(β ⁻) ¹⁵⁵ Eu	burnable poison rods, B ₄ C

Introduction

PNNL will analyze each reactor sample for all the 10 CFR Part 61 and additional long-lived radionuclides (see Appendix A for a summary of PNNL's radioanalytical procedures).

For this survey, the Hanford Technical Library used two major literature search vendor services that maintain hundreds of data bases from a broad scope of disciplines: Dialog Information Services, Inc. (Dialog) and STN International (STN), in addition to reviewing book catalogs and CD ROMs. Data bases accessed in Dialog include the following:

- National Technical Information Services (NTIS)
 - government-sponsored research, development, and engineering, plus analyses prepared by federal agencies, their contractors, or grantees
- Compendex Plus
 - machine-readable version of *The Engineering Index*, which provides abstracted information from the world's significant literature of engineering and technology
- Energy Science and Technology (formerly DOE Energy)
 - one of the world's largest sources of literature references on all aspects of energy and related topics
- Nuclear Science Abstracts
 - comprehensive abstract and index collection of all aspects of international nuclear science and technology literature

- Analytical Abstracts
 - covers all aspects of analytical chemistry
- Chemical Abstracts Search
 - citations from the literature of chemistry and its applications; contains the basic bibliographic information appearing in the printed volumes of *Chemical Abstracts* (no abstracts available).

Databases accessed in STN include the following:

- File CA Chemical Abstracts
 - covers all areas of chemistry and chemical engineering worldwide (STN, unlike Dialog Chemical Abstracts Search, offers an abstract with most of these records)
- Analytical Abstracts
 - covers worldwide literature on analytical chemistry including abstracts for documents reported in the printed volumes of *Analytical Abstracts*.

The search was limited to the period from 1980 to the present. Where appropriate, documented procedures used by individual laboratories were included if they contained unusual chemical separation and/or instrumental methods applicable for measurement of radioisotopes of interest in nuclear power station waste streams. However, commercial laboratory radiochemical analytical procedures are often considered proprietary and thus not referenceable. Thus, this literature review is not presented as being complete or exhaustive.

2 Procedures and Technology Currently Being Used for Radiochemical Analysis of Reactor Wastes

, *i*'

The following compilation summarizes current procedures and technology, in use by several laboratories, that are applicable to the analysis of various types of nuclear wastes for the 10 CFR Part 61 radionuclides and for additional long-lived radionuclides that may be present. The compilation is listed alphabetically by element of interest.

2.1 Aluminum-26

PNNL has measured ²⁶Al in borosilicate glass from a burnable poison rod by instrumental analysis. A triple coincidence gamma ray spectrometric technique is used that measures both 511-keV gamma photons from positron annihilation and the 1809-keV gamma photon. This technique greatly improves the selectivity and sensitivity for the measurement of ²⁶Al (Lepel et al. 1994).

2.2 Americium-Curium

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL) has measured americium and curium isotopes by concentrating the lanthanides and actinides using a LaF₃-La(OH)₃ precipitation cycle followed by extraction using di-2-ethylhexyl orthophoshoric acid. Final purification of americium and curium is accomplished using anion exchange. Separation of americium from curium is obtained using cation exchange. Americium-243 is used for analytical yield determination, and isotopic concentrations are determined using alpha energy spectrometry (Kleinberg 1990).

PNNL has measured ²⁴¹Am, ²⁴²Cm, and ²⁴⁴Cm in a variety of low-level waste and neutron-activated reactor hardware samples. Because of their very similar chemical properties, americium and curium isotopes are separated and purified in a single procedure. The isotopes are coprecipitated with iron hydroxide and then dissolved in strong HNO₃. Plutonium and neptunium are removed from the solution by sorption onto an anion exchange resin. The americium and curium in the effluent solution are then coprecipitated at pH 3.0 using 1 mg of calcium carrier and oxalic acid. The oxalate precipitate, containing the americium and curium isotopes, is separated from the liquid, dissolved in a weak sulfuric acid solution, and electroplated onto a stainless steel disc. Americium-243 is used for analytical yield determination and isotopic concentrations are determined using alpha energy spectrometry (Robertson et al. 1992).

Science Applications International Corporation (SAIC), now Scientech, Inc. has prepared reactor waste samples for americium and curium analysis by fusing the sample. The fusion cake is dissolved in HCl and the transuranic nuclides are coprecipitated with barium sulfate. The barium sulfate precipitate is separated from the liquid, dissolved, and liquid-liquid extractions are performed, thus separating the radionuclides into three groups: U with Th, Pu with Np, and Am with Cm. Each fraction is electroplated and analyzed using a surface barrier alpha-particle detector (Cline et al. 1985).

Thermo Analytic, Inc. (TMA)¹ has separated americium and curium in reactor waste samples. Treatment of the samples with an anion exchange column separates Pu and other species. Am, Cm, and Y carriers are separated as a group by oxalate precipitations and by extraction with the bidentate organophosphorus extractant, dibutyl-N,Ndiethylcarbamoylphosphonate (DDCP). Am, Cm, and Y are back extracted into 2 M nitric acid and reduced to a low volume by boiling. Am and Cm, in a mixed alcoholnitric acid solution, are separated from Y on an anion exchange column. Am and Cm are eluted with 40% 6 M nitric acid-60% methanol followed by 8 M nitric acid. Further purification is obtained using a cation exchange column. Am and Cm are electroplated, and ²⁴¹Am and ²⁴⁴Cm are measured using an alpha energy spectrometer ²⁴³Am is used as a yield tracer.

2.3 Beryllium-7,-10

LANL has separated ⁷Be from fission products by extracting the beryllium acetylacetone complex from a solution of disodiumethylenediaminetetraacetate(EDTA), at a pH of 7.7, into CCl₄. This is followed by an anion exchange column separation, NaOH precipitation scavenge, lanthanum fluoride precipitation scavenge, and final precipitation as BaBeF₄. Beryllium-7 is measured using gamma-ray spectrometry (Kleinberg 1990).

¹Arthur Li, Thermo Analytic, Inc., private communication, February 1992.

Current Procedures and Technology

PNNL has measured the concentration of ¹⁰Be in the borosilicate glass of a burnable poison rod and the boron carbide of a cruciform control rod. Beryllium carrier and ⁷Be tracer are added to the aliquots of solid samples, the samples are alkali fused, and the residues are dissolved and then precipitated as $Be(OH)_2$. The precipitate is dissolved in dilute nitric acid, adjusted to pH 5, extracted with acetylacetone into chloroform, and back extracted into nitric acid. Beryllium is precipitated as the hydroxide and then as $BaBeF_4$. Beryllium-10 is measured in a scintillation spectrometer (Lepel et al. 1994).

2.4 Cadmium 109,-113m

LANL has separated cadmium isotopes from fission products by scavenging with sequential CdS, acid sulfide, and $Fe(OH)_3$ precipitations. The cadmium, in 4 M HCl, is then placed on an anion exchange resin and eluted with $1.5 M H_2SO_4$. The cadmium is converted to the elemental form by electroplating. The isotopes are quantified by counting on an appropriate detector (Kleinberg 1990).

PNNL has measured ^{113m}Cd and ¹⁰⁹Cd in the Ag-Cd-In alloy of a spent rod cluster control assembly (RCCA). The solid sample is dissolved in nitric acid and repeatedly scavenged by AgCl precipitations. Cadmium-115 is used as tracer. Cadmium is then extracted from a highly basic solution with dithizone in chloroform, back extracted into HCl, loaded on an anion resin, and washed with 1 M HCl and then with 0.5 M HBr. Cadmium is eluted with 7.5 M NH₄OH and precipitated as the sulfide with thioacetamide, and the cadmium isotopes are beta counted in a liquid scintillation spectrometer (Lepel et al. 1994).

2.5 Carbon-14

PNNL has separated ¹⁴C for radiochemical analysis either by acid distillation, in the case of inorganic carbonates, or by oxidation/combustion at high temperatures in the case of organic carbon compounds or carbides. In either instance, the distilled carbon dioxide is trapped in a caustic solution. Analytical yields are determined Carbon-14 is quantified by beta counting in a liquid scintillation spectrometer (Robertson et al. 1992).

PNNL has analyzed for total ¹⁴C in irradiated metals, such as Zircaloy cladding and stainless steel components. The method involves total combustion in oxygen in an induction furnace within shielded hot cells, collection of the ¹⁴C in NaOH collection bubblers, and measurement by liquid scintillation counting. Yields are determined by using suitable National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST)-traceable ¹⁴C metal standards (Baldwin 1992).

SAIC has separated ¹⁴C from liquid and solid reactor samples. Oxidizing distillation techniques are employed for liquid or solid samples, which convert greater than 97% of all carbon species to carbon dioxide. The CO₂ is absorbed in a liquid scintillation cocktail and analyzed for ¹⁴C content by liquid scintillation beta counting (Cline et al. 1985).

TMA¹ has separated ¹⁴C from solid reactor waste samples by combusting in a furnace and passing the gas stream over a catalyst. Liquid reactor waste samples are distilled from an HCl solution. Both methods collect the ¹⁴C as the carbonate and measure the activity in a beta scintillation spectrometer

2.6 Chlorine-36

LANL has separated chlorine isotopes from fission product samples by scavenging with Fe(OH)₃ and AgI precipitations from an ammoniacal solution. AgCl is then precipitated in the presence of EDTA. The chlorine is removed as HCl by treatment with concentrated H_2SO_4 . Chlorine is precipitated as mercurous chloride and counted in a beta counter (Kleinberg 1990).

PNNL has measured ³⁶Cl in the borosilicate glass from a burnable poison rod assembly. A glass sample is spiked with ³⁸Cl tracer and alkali fused. The residue is dissolved in acid and the solution is scavenged by ferric hydroxide precipitation. Chlorine is precipitated as silver chloride, and ³⁶Cl is counted in a liquid scintillation spectrometer (Lepel et al. 1994).

¹Arthur Li, Thermo Analytic, Inc., private communication, February 1992.

Xinqi, et al. (1991) described the measurement of ³⁶Cl in nuclear power reactor primary coolant water and primary cleanup resin using either liquid scintillation counting (LSC) or accelerator mass spectrometry (AMS). The ³⁶Cl was radiochemically purified in the water samples by ion exchange chromatography or by AgCl precipitations. The ³⁶Cl was separated from the resin samples by a distillation technique.

2.7 Iodine-129

PNNL has measured ¹²⁹I in reactor samples by separating it onto anion exchange resin. Elution from the resin is achieved by oxidation with NaOCI. Iodine is further purified by solvent extraction using carbon tetrachloride and hydroxylamine-hydrochloride, and is back extracted into a water-sulfite solution. The iodine is then coprecipitated with palladious chloride. Iodine-129 is quantified using a thin-window intrinsic germanium detector through measurement of the xenon x-rays. Iodine-131 is utilized as a yield tracer during the purification procedure (Robertson et al. 1992).

SAIC has separated ¹²⁹I from liquid and solid reactor waste samples. Aliquots of liquid samples are used for analysis, but solid samples are first dissolved by alkaline fusion to prevent volatilization and loss of iodine. Subsequent solutions are stirred with anion exchange resin in batch form to remove iodine. The iodine is extracted from the resin and liquid-liquid extractions are performed. The purified iodine is precipitated as CuI and counted on a thin-window NaI(TI) detector (Cline et al. 1985).

TMA¹ has measured ¹²⁹I in solid and liquid reactor waste. Solid samples are fused with KF, KOH, and K_2CO_3 containing sodium hypochlorite. Iodine is purified by a series of extractions into carbon tetrachloride and toluene. Iodine is then back extracted into water with bisulfite, and ¹²⁹I is measured using a scintillation counter.

PNNL has also measured ¹²⁹I in reactor waste samples by neutron activation analysis (NAA) and thermal emission negative ion mass spectrometry (TEMS). Samples are spiked with ¹²⁵I for chemical yield determination, and liquid samples are concentrated by anion exchange. The anion exchange resin containing the separated iodine is then processed the same as for a solid sample. Solid samples are directly combusted and the iodine in the combustion off-gas is trapped on charcoal. The iodine is volatilized from the charcoal by heating and is collected in a small volume of dilute ammonia solution and then prepared for either NAA or TEMS analysis (Brauer 1989).

2.8 Molybdenum-93

LANL has measured molybdenum isotopes in a fission product mixture by removing Mo⁺⁶ onto an anion resin column from a 5 to 9 M HCl solution. The resin is washed with a mixture of dilute HCl and HF and with 3 M NH₄OH. Molybdenum is eluted from the column with 6 M NH₄C₂H₃O₂, precipitated with alphabenzo inoxime, converted to MoO₃ by ignition, and then counted (Kleinberg 1990).

PNNL has measured ⁹³Mo in activated reactor hardware by scavenging the dissolved sample repeatedly with Fe-Co-Ni-Nb hydroxide precipitates from a weak NaOH solution containing a trace of NaNO₂. Molybdenum is then precipitated as lead molybdate. Molybdenum-93 is quantified using a thin-window intrinsic-germanium detector through measurement of the niobium x-rays. The recovery is determined using ⁹⁹Mo as yield tracer Since ⁹³Mo and ^{93m}Nb decay emitting x-rays of identical energy, ⁹⁵Nb was added as a tracer to ensure that no ^{93m}Nb is carried through the procedure (Lepel et al. 1994).

2.9 Neptunium-237

LANL has separated ²³⁷Np from fission product mixtures by extracting the neptunium from 1 M HCl using 0.5 M thenolytrifluoroacetate (TTA) in xylene. Neptunium is stripped from the organic phase with 8 M HNO₃. Further purification is accomplished by anion exchange resin columns. Neptunium is loaded onto the column from a 12 M HCl solution, is washed with 12 M HCl—0.06 M HF, and then with an HI-HCl solution. Neptunium is eluted with 6.5 M HCl—0.004 M HF and electroplated, and then ²³⁷Np is measured using alpha energy spectroscopy (Kleinberg 1990).

Arthur Li, Thermo Analytic, Inc., private communication, February 1992.

Current Procedures and Technology

PNNL has separated ²³⁷Np from nuclear waste samples onto anion exchange resin from a strong nitric acid solution. The anion column is then washed with strong HCl. Neptunium is eluted using HCl-HF acid, evaporated to dryness with nitric acid, and subsequently electroplated from a dilute sulfuric acid solution. The separated and purified ²³⁷Np is quantified using an alpha energy spectrometer. Neptunium-239 is utilized during the separation procedure as a yield tracer (Robertson et al 1992).

SAIC has separated ²³⁷Np from reactor waste samples. The sample is dissolved by fusion techniques, the fusion cake is dissolved in HCl, and the transuranic nuclidesare coprecipitated with barium sulfate. The barium sulfate is dissolved and liquid-liquid extractions are performed, separating U with Th, Pu with Np, and Am with Cm. Each of the three fractions is electroplated and analyzed separately using a surface barrier alpha-particle detector (Cline et al. 1985).

TMA¹ has separated ²³⁷Np from solutions of reactor waste. Neptunium-239, in equilibrium with ²⁴³Am, is added as yield tracer to a liquid aliquot and adjusted to 8 N HNO₃. The solution is oxidized and passed through an anion column. The Np is eluted with dilute HCl. Neptunium is then carried on an Fe(OH)₃ precipitate, dissolved in HCl, and extracted into a benzene—TTA solution. Neptunium is back extracted with 8 N HNO₃, evaporated, and electroplated. The Np yield is determined by counting the ²³⁹Np beta activity on a low-background beta counter.

2.10 Nickel-59,-63

LANL has separated nickel radionuclides from fission products by precipitating with dimethylglyoxime from an ammoniacal medium in the presence of citrate ion. The Ni-dimethylglyoxime is then extracted into chloroform, back extracted into dilute HCl, electroplated, and counted on an appropriate detector (Kleinberg 1990).

PNNL has separated nickel radionuclides from reactor waste by successive steps of chelating iron with citric acid and precipitating the nickel as dimethylglyoxime. The final dimethylglyoxime precipitate is weighed and mounted for measurement of the ⁵⁹Ni x-rays with a lowenergy gamma spectrometer The precipitate is then carefully dissolved in nitric acid and taken to dryness. The residue is dissolved in weak HCl and prepared for beta counting in a liquid scintillation spectrometer for ⁶³Ni. Yields are determined gravimetrically (Robertson et al. 1992).

SAIC has separated ⁵⁹Ni and ⁶³Ni from reactor waste samples. Solid samples such as sludge and resins are dissolved with mixed strong acids. Aliquots of the dissolved solids or of the liquid samples are taken for analysis. Nickel is separated from contaminating radionuclides by precipitating Fe(OH)₃ with NH₄OH. Nickel remains in solution as an ammonium complex. Further decontamination is accomplished by specific precipitations of Ni with dimethylglyoxime (Ni-DMG).

The complex is dissolved and the organic destroyed with 1:1 HNO₃:HClO₄ and by heating to dryness. The salts are dissolved and volumetrically diluted to 10 mL. Yield is determined by atomic absorption. The ⁶³Ni is determined by liquid scintillation counting; the ⁵⁹Ni activity is measured using a thin-window NaI(TI) detector (Cline et al. 1985).

TMA¹ has separated ⁶³Ni from reactor waste samples using a multi-step purification procedure which includes precipitation and extraction of the dimethylglyoxime complex into benzene, and back extraction into HCl solution. The Ni-DMG precipitate is corrected for yield by gravimetric means and then dissolved in a cocktail for counting by liquid scintillation spectrometry. Counting efficiency is determined by spiking techniques. Chemical purification for ⁵⁹Ni is similar to that for ⁶³Ni. The Ni is then electrodeposited on a copper disc, weighed for yield, and counted on a thin NaI(Tl) detector for x-ray spectrometry.

2.11 Niobium-93m,-94

LANL has separated niobium from fission products by scavenging with $Ba(ZrF_6)$, then extracting the niobium cupferron derivative into CHCl₃ from a boric acid— 1 M HCl solution. The CHCl₃ is destroyed by digesting in H₂SO₄-HNO₃ solution and the niobium is precipitated as the basic hydrous oxide. The precipitate is dissolved in sulfuric acid and scavenged with a sulfide precipitation. Niobium is finally precipitated as the cupferrate, ignited, weighed, and counted on an appropriate detector (Kleinberg 1990).

i

ļ

¹Arthur Li, Thermo Analytic, Inc., private communication, February 1992.

PNNL has measured ⁹⁴Nb and ^{93m}Nb in neutron-activated reactor hardware, after dissolution of the metal sample, by precipitation of niobic oxide in concentrated nitric acid. Both stable niobium carrier and ⁹⁵Nb tracer are added during the separation. Niobium-94 is measured by gamma-ray spectrometric techniques while ^{93m}Nb is determined by measuring the niobium x-rays Using a thin window intrinsic germanium detector. Yields are determined by measuring the ⁹⁵Nb tracer by gamma-ray spectrometry (Robertson et al. 1992).

SAIC has separated ⁹⁴Nb from solid and liquid reactor wastes. Solid samples, such as sludge or resins, are dissolved or leached with mixed strong acids. Aliquots of the dissolved solid or liquid samples are taken for analysis. Carrier is added and niobium is precipitated with NH₄OH. Washing the precipitate with hot nitric acid provides some decontamination. Niobium is dissolved; cobalt and barium are used to scavenge contaminants. The solution containing niobium is further purified by elution from an anion exchange column. Niobium is precipitated as the oxide and ⁹⁴Nb is measured by gamma ray analysis using a Ge detector (Cline et al. 1985).

TMA¹ has separated ⁹⁴Nb from reactor waste samples. The samples are vigorously dissolved in strong acids (e.g., HF, HNO₃) with addition of Nb and Zr carriers. Zirconium is scavenged by precipitating BaZrF₆. Then Nb₂O₅ is precipitated, and dissolved as the oxalate complex, and Nb₂O₅ is again precipitated. The oxide is dissolved in fuming H₂SO₄, followed by a BaSO₄ precipitation scavenge. The niobium is absorbed on an anion exchange column and eluted as the oxalate complex. Nb₂O₅ is again precipitated, and weighed for yield. Niobium-94 is counted either on a beta counter or is analyzed on a germanium detector by gamma-ray spectrometry.

2.12 Plutonium-238,-239,-240,-241

LANL has measured ²³⁹⁻²⁴⁰Pu in fission products by separating plutonium onto anion exchange resin from nitric acid media. Plutonium is eluted from the resin with an HI-HCl solution and electroplated for counting. Plutonium-236 is used as a yield tracer and ²³⁹⁻²⁴⁰Pu is measured with an alpha energy spectrometer (Kleinberg 1990).

PNNL has measured ²³⁸Pu, ²³⁹⁻²⁴⁰Pu, and ²⁴¹Pu in reactor waste samples by separation onto anion exchange resin from a nitric acid media. Plutonium isotopes are eluted from the resin with a hydrochloric acid—ammonium iodide solution. The plutonium is electroplated from a dilute sulfuric acid solution onto a stainless steel disc. Plutonium-242 is used as a yield tracer, and ²³⁹⁻²⁴⁰Pu and ²³⁸Pu are determined by alpha energy spectrometry. Plutonium isotopes are then dissolved from the disc and the solution is measured for beta activity from ²⁴¹Pu in a liquid scintillation spectrometer (Robertson et al. 1992).

SAIC has separated plutonium from solid and liquid reactor waste samples. The sample is dissolved by a fusion technique. The fusion cake is dissolved in HCl and the transuranic nuclides are coprecipitated with barium sulfate. The barium sulfate is dissolved and liquid-liquid extractions are performed, separating U with Th, Pu with Np, and Am with Cm. Each of the three fractions is electroplated and analyzed using a surface barrier alphaparticle detector. A fraction of the separated Pu is counted in a liquid scintillation counter. Plutonium-241 is counted in the tritium energy window, and alpha-emitting ²¹⁸⁻²³⁹Pu is counted in the energy window above tritium. Plutonium-236 tracer yield is determined from the ratio of ²³⁶Pu to total alpha/plutonium and is applied to the liquid scintillation alpha count (Cline et al. 1985).

TMA¹ has separated plutonium in reactor waste samples from an 8 N HNO₃ solution using anion exchange resin. Plutonium is eluted from the resin with HF-HNO₃ acid solution. The anion exchange column is repeated, adding an HCl wash, and Pu is eluted with a solution of hydrochloric acid and ammonium iodide. The eluate is reduced to a low volume and electroplated from an ammonium sulfate electrolyte (pH 2, 1.2 amps, 30 min) onto a stainless steel disc. Plutonium is counted in an alpha spectrometer

2.13 Strontium-90

LANL has separated ⁹⁰Sr from other fission products by successive fuming nitric acid precipitations. The precipitate is dissolved and scavenged with BaCrO₄ precipitation, and strontium is precipitated as the carbonate. After an ingrowth period, ⁹⁰Sr is then calculated from the separated ⁹⁰Y daughter measurements. Yields are determined gravimetrically (Kleinberg 1990).

¹Arthur Li, Thermo Analytic, Inc., private communication, February 1992.

Current Procedures and Technology

PNNL has separated ⁹⁰Sr from reactor wastes by consecutive precipitations of basic carbonates followed by precipitation in fuming nitric acid. After an ingrowth period, an ⁹⁰Y separation is performed, and ⁹⁰Sr is calculated from the separated ⁹⁰Y daughter measurements. Strontium-85 is used as a yield tracer, and is counted by gamma-ray spectrometry (Robertson et al. 1992).

SAIC has separated ⁹⁰Sr from solid and liquid reactor waste samples. Solid samples, such as sludge and resins, are dissolved or leached with mixed strong acids. Aliquots of the dissolved solids or liquid samples are taken for analysis. A combination of precipitation and scavenging techniques is used for decontamination. Yttrium is separated and strontium is precipitated as the carbonate and counted. A 2-week ingrowth period is allowed before the carbonate is dissolved and the yttrium is separated, purified, and counted. The ⁹⁰Sr concentration is derived from ⁹⁰Sr beta counting (Cline et al. 1985).

TMA¹ has measured ⁹⁰Sr in reactor waste samples by adding ⁸⁵Sr as a tracer and purifying by $Sr(NO_3)_2$ precipitations, followed by $Fe(OH)_3$ and $Ba(CrO_3)$ scavenge precipitations. The oxalate is precipitated and dissolved, and $SrCO_3$ is precipitated and counted for ⁸⁵Sr. After an ingrowth period, ⁹⁰Y is removed by sequentially precipitating as the hydroxide, fluoride, and oxalate. The oxalate is ignited to the oxide and weighed for yield. Yttrium-90 is counted in a low-background beta counter and confirmed by radioactive decay measurements.

2.14 Technetium-99

PNNL has separated ⁹⁹Tc from reactor waste with repeated iron hydroxide coprecipitations followed by coprecipitation with rhenium carrier, using tetraphenyl arsonium chloride reagent. Technetium-99 is quantified using a thin-window beta proportional counter. Absorption curves are determined for all samples to confirm the presence of ⁹⁹Tc. Technetium-95 is used as a tracer for analytical yield (Robertson et al. 1992).

SAIC has measured ⁹⁹Tc in solid and liquid reactor wastes. Rhenium is substituted for technetium as a carrier. Aliquots of liquid samples are used for analyses. Solid samples are dissolved by alkaline fusion to prevent volatilization and loss of technetium. The fused salts are dissolved in 8 M HNO₃ and the solution is boiled to remove iodine. Cobalt is repeatedly used as a precipitation scavenging agent to remove radiocobalt and other multiple distillation of tritium oxide and beta measurement in a liquid scintillation spectrometer (Robertson et al. 1992).

PNNL has measured total tritium in Zircaloy cladding and other metals which are nonvolatile at 2600°C. The method uses a LECO Impulse resistance furnace, transition metal radionuclides. The Re(Tc) is precipitated as a complex with tetraphenyl arsonium chloride, by Model EF-10. The sample is melted in a graphite crucible in the furnace for 2 to 3 minutes in a flowing stream of 6% hydrogen in helium. The gas stream is routed through a hot copper oxide column to convert tritium gas to water. This tritiated water is collected in a bubbler trap and the carrier gas is routed back into the cell. Tritium is measured by liquid scintillation counting (Baldwin 1989).

SAIC has separated tritium from liquid reactor waste samples. Tritium is separated and purified from activation and fission product activities by distillation. An alkaline permanganate solution is used to provide an oxidizing environment. The halogens and other elements are rendered nonvolatile and remain in the oxidizing solution. The purified tritium is collected as the distillate. The tritium is beta counted in a liquid scintillation counter (Cline et al. 1985).

¹Arthur Li, Thermo Analytic, Inc., private communication, February 1992.

Current Procedures and Technology

2.15 Liquid Scintillation

PNNL has recently installed a new liquid scintillation spectrometer for beta measurements of ²⁴¹Pu, ³H, ¹⁴C, ⁶³Ni, and in some cases other low- energy x-ray and betaemitting isotopes. Background count rates for ³H and ²⁴¹Pu are about 4 counts per minute (cpm), while background for ¹⁴C is 14 cpm and for ⁶³Ni is 10 cpm.

Resolution for a 75-keV e⁻ is about 18 keV full-width-athalf-maximum-peak-height (fwhm), while for the 624keV e⁻ of ¹³⁷Cs, resolution is about 50 keV. The spectrometer has a system for separating alpha pulses from beta, gamma, or e⁻ pulses. Alpha pulse resolution (fwhm) varies from about 300 keV for ²³⁸U to about 400 keV for ²⁴¹Am (Lepel et al. 1994). See Figures 2.1 and 2.2 for examples of spectra from this spectrometer



Figure 2.1. Liquid Scintillation Spectrum Showing Separation of ²³⁹Pu Alpha and ²⁴¹Pu Beta

:



:

Figure 2.2. Composite Liquid Scintillation Spectrum Showing 5.8 keV x-ray from ⁵⁵Fe and 28 keV Electron from ^{93m}Nb

c:

3 Recent Chemical and Radiochemical Procedures Potentially Applicable for Reactor Waste Analysis

In nearly all the references cited for possible use in updating currently used chemical separations methods, sample matrices discussed were different from those associated with nuclear power station radioactive wastes. A referenced procedure was chosen for inclusion in this section of the review if the procedure showed merit in separating certain radioactive isotopes or in separating certain stable elements. Also, procedures were cited if they showed a very high selectivity, as measured by their distribution coefficients, or large decontamination factors. These promising improvements should be investigated and tested for application to, and improvement of, current procedures for nuclear power station waste analyses. Additional procedures that may be adaptable to the analysis of reactor wastes are cited in Appendix B.

3.1 Aluminum

Kohl and Nishiizumi (1992) separated aluminum from purified quartz samples by first removing iron and titanium from 10 M HCl using Dowex-1TM anion exchange resin. Aluminum was then extracted into CCl₄ from a pH 6 solution containing acetylacetone and then back extracted into HCl.⁻ Aluminum was separated from beryllium using type AG-50 cation resin. Aluminum-26 was measured using an accelerator mass spectrometer

3.2 Americium-Curium

Bochkarev et al. (1988) extracted americium and curium with butyric acid in the presence of sulfosalicylic acid from a sample of pH 1-2 that contained large amounts of Al, Fe, Mg, Ca, Ba, Ti, K, and Cr. Plutonium, U, Th, and Np were removed using anion exchange elution techniques.

Grigor'eva and Kravtsova (1990) separated americium and curium using cation exchange resin from a 2 M HNO₃ salt-free solution. Americium-curium were eluted with 5 M HNO₃. By combining the foregoing with anion exchange, the researchers were able to isolate Am-Cm from soil and environmental samples with decontamination coefficients of 1500 from Fe, 2000 from Ca, 10 from nonferrous metals, 1 x 10⁶ from U-Pu-Np-Ra, 1 x 10⁵ from Th, and 1000 from Po.

3.3 Beryllium

Itoh (1986) separated beryllium from seawater and sediments by extracting the Be into methylisobutylketone with acetylacetone from a buffered solution of EDTA and ammonium acetate. The extraction was carried out in the presence of EDTA to prevent iron and aluminum from extracting.

Kohl and Nishiizumi (1992) separated beryllium from purified quartz by first removing iron and titanium from 10 M HCl with Dowex-1 anion exchange resin, then extracting from a pH 6 solution containing acetylacetone into CCl₄, and then back extracting into HCl. Beryllium was separated from aluminum using type AG-50 cation exchange resin. Beryllium-10 was measured using an accelerator mass spectrometer

Rigin (1984) separated beryllium from coal, ash, air, and water samples by extracting the Be into trifluoracetylacetone in benzene from an acetate buffer solution containing 0.02 M EDTA.

Vin and Khopkar (1988) quantitatively extracted beryllium from 0.01 M hydrochloric acid on a silica gel column impregnated with bis(2-ethylhexyl)phosphoric acid. Strontium, Ba, Co, Ni, Cu, Al, and Mo were not retained on the column. Beryllium was stripped from the column with 1 M hydrochloric acid.

3.4 Cadmium

Aznarez et al. (1987) extracted cadmium with diethyldithiocarbamate into chloroform from pH 11-12 aqueous media containing potassium cyanide and potassium phosphate.

Lesny et al. (1988) extracted cadmium with diphenyl thiocarbazone at $pH \cdot 9$ into $CHCl_3$. Cadmium was back extracted into a buffered $pH \cdot 2$ solution, leaving cobalt in the organic phase.

3.5 Carbon-14

Braun et al. (1980) showed that, for design of analytical procedures for the analysis of samples from reactor waste, the chemical form of the carbon in the waste is an important consideration. The researchers found that in boiling

TM Registered trademark of The Dow Chemical Co., Midland, Michigan.

water reactors (BWRs) more than 95% of the ${}^{14}C$ is emitted as ${}^{14}CO_2$, while in pressurized water reactors (PWRs) greater than 90% of the ${}^{14}C$ is released as ${}^{14}CH_4$ and ${}^{14}C_2H_6$.

Kilius,¹ of ISOTRACE Laboratory, measured ¹⁴C in CO₂, water, and organics using an accelerator mass spectrometer

Knowles (1979) distilled ¹⁴C as CO₂ from both inorganic and organic dissolved compounds from reactor primary coolant water by using persulfate at neutral pH catalyzed with silver ion. The CO₂ was precipitated as calcium carbonate, dried, weighed, and slurried in Insta-GelTM scintillation cocktail and the ¹⁴C was beta counted in a liquid scintillation spectrometer This study showed most of the ¹⁴C was associated with organic compounds.

Kunz (1985) found, at two PWRs, that the majority of the ¹⁴C found was in the form of organic hydrocarbon gases. Ion exchange resins removed very little of the organically bound ¹⁴C. However, at a BWR, >90% of the ¹⁴C was inorganically bound. The organic-bound ¹⁴C wash was separated by a gas chromatograph, and the ¹⁴C was determined on each fractional cut.

Saas (1991) compared three methods for ¹⁴C measurements on resin samples using 1) pyrolysis techniques with constant oxygen flow, 2) acid digestion with H_2SO_4 -HClO₄, and 3) combustion with oxygen in a closed system. The third method was considered the best technique and required only a few minutes for analysis.

3.6 Chlorine-36

Kramer and Joseph (1984) separated ³⁶Cl from raw urine by scavenging the sample with Fe(OH)₃ precipitation and barium sulfate precipitation. The sample was acidified and ³⁶Cl was removed as AgCl. Chlorine-36 was measured using a gas proportional beta counter.

Beasley, et al. (1992, 1993) have reviewed accelerator mass spectrometric (AMS) methods for determining ³⁶Cl in natural waters and have measured ³⁶Cl in groundwaters near the Savannah River Site, and the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory. The ³⁶Cl is purified by AgCl precipitations prior to quantification by AMS.

3.7 Iodine-129

Brauer (1989) compared four methods for measuring ¹²⁹I in various types of samples: 1) direct gamma counting, 2) neutron activation analysis (NAA), 3) thermal emission negative ion mass spectrometry (TEMS), and 4) accelerator mass spectrometry (AMS). These last three methods (NAA, TEMS, and AMS) are at least a factor of 10⁶ times more sensitive than beta, gamma, or x-ray counting methods; the AMS method is the most sensitive.

Kuleff, Zotschev, and Stefanov (1986) measured ¹²⁹I in 1 L of primary coolant by extraction into CCl_4 followed by back extraction into water containing Li_2SO_3 , precipitation of PbI₂, irradiation in a nuclear reactor, and measurement of the ¹³⁰I produced from the neutron activation of ¹²⁹I.

Mann and Beasley (1994) measured ¹²⁹I in groundwaters from the Snake River Plain Aquifer and near the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory using accelerator mass spectrometry and prior radiochemical purification by AgCl precipitation. This technique could be readily modified for analysis of reactor low-level wastes.

3.8 Molybdenum; Mo-93

Ejaz and Mamoon (1987) separated molybdenum from fission products using a 0.1 M solution of 4-(5-onyl)pyridine in benzene. The fission product solution was made 0.1 M H_2SO_4 in 0.1 to 1.0 M potassium thiocyanate. Molybdenum extraction coefficients of >10³ were attained. Molybdenum was back extracted into 1.0 M nitric acid.

Kapauan and Zuleta (1975) concentrated and separated molybdenum from large amounts of iron in steel samples using methylisobutylketone-8-hydroxyquinoline mixture from an H_2SO_4 solution of pH 1.5. Yields varied from 93 to 102 %.

Mok and Wai (1984) separated molybdenum from a solution of seawater, at a pH of 1.4, using a 2:1 mixture of ammonium pyrrolidinedithiocarbamate (APDC) and

¹L. R., Kilius, ISOTRACE Laboratory, private communication, October 1991.

Minsta-Gel is a Registered Trademark of Packard Instrument Co., Meriden, Connecticut.

Potentially Applicable Procedures

sodium diethyldithiocarbamate (NaDDC) containing chloroform. Evaluation of the procedure with seawater spiked with molybdenum, natural seawater, and NBS¹ Standard River Water showed the extraction was quantitative.

Samudralwar, Lanjewar, and Garg (1987) extracted ⁹⁹Mo⁺⁶ with tri-n-butyl phosphate (TBP) from 5 M HCl after ⁹⁹Tc was removed using ethyl methyl ketone from a 5 M NaOH solution.

3.9 Nickel; Ni-63

Danesi et al. (1984) extracted cobalt from nickel using di(2,4,4tri methylpentyl) phosphinic acid [H(DTMPP)] or CYANEX 272. The high selectivity of H(DTMPP) for cobalt over nickel gave a separation factor of $>10^3$.

Kramer (1984) measured ⁶³Ni in urine by precipitating with dimethylglyoxime in the presence of tartaric acid after removal of phosphate interference as iron phosphate. The tartaric acid removed any interference from the relatively large amounts of Mn, Cu, and Co in the sample. Kramer observed a considerable loss of Ni when the Ni-DMG was wet ashed with nitric acid and allowed to go to dryness.

Strebin (1993a) measured ⁵⁹Ni and ⁶³Ni in Hanford tank samples by complexing iron with ammonium citrateammonium hydroxide and passing this solution through a column consisting of 50-mesh polyethane powder impregnated with dimethylglyoxime. After washing the column with ammonium citrate solution, the nickel is eluted with 3 M HNO₃. Nickel is precipitated as the dimethylglyoxime, filtered, washed, dried, and weighed. The filter is counted in a low-energy photon counter for ⁵⁹Ni. The filter is muffled, the resulting NiO is dissolved, and the solution is counted in a liquid scintillation counter for ⁶³Ni. Yields are determined gravimetrically.

3.10 Plutonium

Chen et al. (1991) significantly increased the recovery of plutonium from large amounts of seawater by controlling valence during the standard anion exchange chromato graphic separation for transuranics. These researchers used gram quantities of sodium sulfite and sodium nitrite throughout the procedure to ensure that plutonium was in the proper valence state, and also equilibrated the columns with either a reducing or an oxidizing agent present.

Horwitz et al. (1990) separated plutonium from urine using 242 Pu as radiochemical tracer, and coprecipitating the plutonium with calcium phosphate. The precipitate was ashed, dissolved in 10 mL 0.5 M Al(NO₃)₃ in 2 M nitric acid and passed through a column of octyl(phenyl)-N,Ndiisobuytlcarbamoylmethylphosphine oxide (CMPO) dissolved in TBP supported on an inert substrate (Amberlite XAD-7) that absorbs the plutonium. Plutonium is stripped from the column with 0.01 M ammonium hydrogenoxalate, electrodeposited on a stainless steel disc, and counted on an alpha energy spectrometer

Joshi (1986) measured Pu in sediment samples by leaching 100-g samples with 8 M HNO₃ containing sodium nitrite. The leachate was passed through an anion column, the column was washed with 8 M HNO₃, and then 10 M HCl, and then Pu was eluted from the column with 4 M HCl. This reduced the uranium contamination. Pu was then coprecipitated with LaF₃ and mounted for alpha energy analysis.

Joshi (1985) coprecipitated plutonium as a fluoride with 100 μ g of lanthanum carrier from an acidic solution. The precipitate was mounted on a 0.1- μ -pore membrane filter containing a LaF₃ substrate prepared from 100 μ g of lanthanum. Coprecipitation yields were generally quantitative.

3.11 Strontium-90

Dietz et al. (1991) removed ⁹⁰Sr from urine samples by coprecipitating with calcium phosphate from an ammonium hydroxide solution at neutral pH. The precipitate is ashed and dissolved in 2 M HNO₃ containing 0.5 M Al(NO₃)₃. The solution may be passed through a column containing about 1 g of TRU-SpecTM to remove interfering elements and then through a column containing 0.7 g of Sr-SpecTM to remove strontium. Barium is removed from the Sr-SpecTM column with two 5-mL rinses of 9 M LiNO₃

National Bureau of Standards, now the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST).

TM Registered Trademark of Eichrom Industries, Inc., Darien, Illinois.

containing 0.4 M HNO₃. The column is then rinsed with 1.5 mL of deionized water and the strontium is eluted with 4 mL of deionized water into a plastic scintillation vial. Seventeen mL of scintillation cocktail is added to the vial, which is then counted on a Packard 2200 scintillation counter.

Ghods-esphahani et al. (1989) measured ⁹⁰Sr in environmental samples by directly extracting ⁹⁰Y from an HNO₃ solution using TBP.

Saas (1991) separated ⁹⁰Sr from nuclear waste solutions using crown ether, dicyclohexano 18-crown 6 (DCH 18 C6) from a 1 M HNO₃-1 M LiNO₃ solution. A 0.1 M solution of crown ether (DCH 18 C6) in 1,1,2,2 tetrachloroethane was used as the solvent. Extraction efficiencies of >99% were attained.

Strebin (1993c) measured ⁹⁰Sr in Hanford process waste samples by tracing with ⁸⁵Sr, converting the sample aliquot to 8 M HNO₃, and passing through a Sr-SpecTM resin column [which contains 4,4'(5')-bis(tert-butylcyclohexano)-18-crown-6]. After the column is washed with 8 M HNO₃, Sr is eluted with 0.05 M HNO₃, precipitated as the oxalate, and beta counted. Yield is determined by gamma counting the ⁸⁵Sr.

Tait, Wiechen, and Behrens (1989) removed 90 Sr from 100 mL of milk using a chelating resin (Chelite P) that contains aminomethyl-phosphonate groups, eluted 90 Sr from the resin with 2 M HCl, precipitated SrCO₃, and removed Ba by extracting with 21-crown-7 in CHCl₃ from pH 3-5 solution. Strontium was then extracted into a CHCl₃ solution of dicyclohexano-18-crown-6 and back extracted into an aqueous solution of HCl/NaCl/NH₄Cl, and finally precipitated as SrCO₃. The procedure gave 93.5% yield and decontamination factors of 31.2 for Ca, 15700 for Y, 32.2 for Ba, and 1.8 x 10⁷ for Cs.

3.12 Technetium-99

Amano (1991) separated ⁹⁹Tc from molybdenum using a mixed solvent of acetonitrile and 0.04 M acetate buffer containing 5 vol% of 0.5 M tetra-n-butylammonium hydroxide as the mobile phase.

Martin Marrietta Energy Systems (ES&H Analytical Services 1991) extracted ⁹⁹Tc from a 6 M H₂SO₄ solution containing hydrofluoric acid into TBP. An aliquot of the TBP was added directly to the scintillation solution along with a small amount of stannous chloride to reduce the chemiluminescence and was beta counted in a liquid scintillation spectrometer

Martin Marrietta Energy Systems (Beverly 1986) extracted ⁹⁹Tc into methyl ethyl ketone from a potassium carbonate solution containing hydrogen peroxide. The methyl ethyl ketone was evaporated to dryness and the residue was dissolved in 0.1 M HNO₃. This solution was added to a scintillator and the ⁹⁹Tc was beta counted in a liquid scintillation spectrometer

3.13 Tin; Sn-121m,-126

Byrne (1977) extracted tin using a double solvent extraction method. Tin was first extracted as the tetraiodide into toluene from a 3.5 M H_2SO_4 +1 M KI solution, and then back extracted into 0.9 M H_2SO_4 . The solution was made 4-5 M with acetic acid and 0.5 M HCl, and a small amount of tartaric acid was added. Tin was then extracted with Nbenzoyl-N-phenylhydroxylamine in toluene. Yields of 96% were obtained for this dual extraction. ^{121m}Sn was beta counted using liquid scintillation spectroscopy.

Desai and Parthasarathy (1983) extracted tin from a 3.6 M H_2SO_4 solution containing 1 M KI into toluene. The decontamination factor for antimony was greater than 10⁵.

Leaf (1987) measured ¹²⁶Sn in hydrothermal test solutions. The acidified sample was saturated with bromine and passed through a cation (AG-50W, X-8, 100 to 200 mesh, H⁺ form) column to remove essentially all cations. After adjusting the column effluent to 6 M HCl, the solution was passed through an anion (AG-1, X-8, 100 to 200 mesh, Cl⁻ form) column to remove ¹²⁶Sn. Tin was eluted from the column with 1 M HNO₃ and the eluate measured for ¹²⁶Sn using a gamma ray spectrometer

3.14 Transuranics

Strebin (1993b) has separated americium, curium, and . plutonium from high-level waste tank samples. Aliquots are spiked with ²⁴²Pu and ²⁴³Am as yield tracers. The samples are acid leached and the leachate is adjusted to 2 M HNO₃. Iron and ascorbic acid are added to complex and reduce iron to Fe(II) and Np(VI) to Np(IV). A Tru-Spec[™] resin column containing octyl(phenyl)-N,N-diiso-

TM Registered Trademark of Eichrom Industries, Inc., Darien, Illinois.

Potentially Applicable Procedures

butylcarbamoylmethylphosphine oxide is equilibrated with 2 M HNO_3 and the sample is passed through.

After the column is washed, americium and curium are respectively eluted with 9 M HCl and 4 M HCl. Plutonium is eluted with 4 M HCl—0.1 M hydroquinone. Small amounts of Nd carrier are added to the plutonium and americium-curium fraction and the fluorides are precipitated and counted by alpha energy analysis.

3.15 Liquid Scintillation

Bickel et al. (1992) demonstrated that pulse shaping analysis (PSA) in liquid scintillation counting, for the separation of alpha and beta pulses, could be used to monitor the alpha activity in primary coolants. The extractive scintillator used was a mixture of trioctylphosphineoxide (TOPO), 2,5-diphenyloxazole (PPO) in toluene, and naphthalene. The first extraction with 4 M HNO₃ removed uranium and plutonium isotopes from the solution. The second extraction, after adjusting to pH 1, removed the americium and curium isotopes. The organic phase was put directly into a scintillating vial and the alpha activity was measured at a PSA value of 135. Yonezawa et al. (1983) extracted Ni-DMG into xylene for liquid scintillation counting. They reported that xylene is much superior to chloroform as an organic solvent in liquid scintillation counting because of its high emission efficiency and absence of oxygen quenching. The scintillation cocktail they used was 2,5-diphenyloxazole (DPO), which contained 1,4-cis[2-(4-methyl-5phenyloxazole)]-benzene(DMPOPOP) as a wave shifter.

3.16 Gamma-Ray Spectroscopy

There are numerous computerized programs for handling, identifying, and calculating complex gamma-ray spectra. Individual hardware vendors and laboratories have developed programs which are specially suited to their specific needs. Each of the several technical approaches has its strengths and weaknesses, and all are adequate for their intended application. Additionally, there have been significant advances in the computer hardware used with these programs. These subjects will not be further addressed in this review.

4 New Technology Potentially Applicable for Reactor Waste Analysis

These novel, relatively new or very expensive technologies were included because, like those in Section 3, they are potentially applicable for reactor waste analysis, but because of their unique capabilities, have been separated from those in Section 3.

4.1 Novel Chromatographic Chemicals

Several efficient and selective chromatographic materials have recently been developed for liquid-liquid extraction methods that can be used to isolate various radionuclides from nuclear wastes streams. Much research has focused on the development of a workable acid-side liquid-liquid extraction process for the removal of strontium. Kimura et al. (1977), for example, utilized one of the macrocyclic polyethers (dicyclohexano-18-crown-6) to separate ⁹⁰Sr from milk. This crown ether was observed as ineffective in highly acid samples, a significant limitation. The extraction was further complicated by the chemistry of the strontium ion itself. Because of the large ionic radius and low charge, the energy associated with bond formation between strontium ions and the crown ether functional groups was not sufficient to completely dehydrate the cation. Thus, extraction into the organic phase resulted in transfer of a strontium complex bearing a number of molecules of water. The net result was poor extraction. Horwitz, Dietz, and Fisher (1991) recently developed a solution to this problem by combining a crown ether with an organic solvent capable of dissolving a substantial amount of water. This approach, using a solution of bis-4,4'(5')-tertbutylcyclohexano-18-crown-6 in 1-octanol, provided the basis for a new process called Sr-Spec[™], which has been very successful in isolating strontium from large amounts of calcium. During this same time period, considerable work was being done to find a more suitable acid-side extractant for the transuranic elements. A satisfactory acid-side extraction of all actinides, including trivalent americium, was achieved using a solution of an organophosphorus extractant, octyl(phenyl)-N,Ndiisobutylcarbamylmethylphosphine oxide (CMPO), in a paraffinic hydrocarbon containing a moderate amount of a second extractant, TBP, that prevents the formation of a third phase during extraction.

This extraction system became the basis for a process called TRU-Spec[™]. Recently, a higher molarity of carbamylphosphine oxide has been marketed as RE-Spec™ and does retain the higher atomic weight lanthanides more efficiently than TRU-Spec[™]. A product called UTEVA-Spec[™] composed of (diamyl)amyl phosphonate has been marketed for the removal of mainly tetravalent uranium and thorium from acid-side solutions. Also, a new material called TEVA-Spec[™] has been marketed and consists of a quaternary ammonium salt of didecvloctylmethylammonium+ and it removes tetravalent plutonium. thorium, and neptunium from acid-side solutions. TEVA-Spec[™] has also been used to separate ⁹⁹Tc from waste samples by eluting technetium from the resin with HNO, and measuring ⁹⁹Tc using an inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (ICP-MS). Another group used TEVA-Spec[™] to remove ⁹⁹Tc from a waste sample, then removed the resin into a scintillation vial, added Insta-Gel[™], and measured the ⁹⁹Tc in a scintillation spectrometer (Kimura et al. 1977; Horwitz, Dietz, and Fisher 1991; Spec News 1992-1993).

4.2 ICP-MS

Wyse (1993) prepared a general procedure to supplement the manufacturer-provided operations and instruction manuals for the operation of a Fisons PlasmaQuad (PQ) ICP-MS to analyze several radioisotopes. Controlling software is also provided by Fisons. The ICP-MS has been used to measure ⁹⁹Tc in aqueous, acidified samples. Samples in other physical forms or matrices were digested, fused, or leached to give acidified solutions. This procedure is applicable to the determination of ⁹⁹Tc at concentrations ≥ 10 ppt (170 pCi/L). Uranium isotopic concentrations were measured in acidified waste samples at concentrations of ≥ 10 ppt for each isotope (²³⁸U, ²³⁵U, ²³⁴U, ²³³U, and ²³⁶U). Thorium-230,-232 isotopes, ²³⁷Np, and ^{239,240,242,244}Pu isotopes have also been measured in acidified samples. Some of these required chemical separations before measurement. Additional isotopes which are presently being considered for application of this technique are ¹²⁹I, ²⁴¹Am, ²⁴³Am, ²⁴⁷Cm, and ²⁴⁸Cm. Given appropriate chemical separations and aliquot sizes sufficient to give concentrations of about 10 ppt,

TMRegistered Trademark of Eichrom Industries, Inc., Darien, Illinois.

TM TRU-Spec, RE-Spec, TEVA-Spec, UTEVA-Spec are Registered Trademarks of Eichrom Industries, Inc., Darien, Illinois.

TM Insta-Gel is a Registered Trademark of Packard Instrument Co., Meriden, Connecticut.

Potentially Applicable Procedures

the ICP-MS could also measure such isotopes in reactor hardware as ⁵⁹Ni, ⁷⁹Se, ⁹³Zr, ⁹³Mo, ⁹⁴Nb, ¹⁰⁷Pd, and ¹³⁵Cs.

4.3 Accelerator Mass Spectrometer

The literature review revealed about 50 papers that used the AMS technique for measuring several long-lived radionuclides. Only a few of these papers have been included as a brief overview. Typically, AMS improves sensitivity by several orders of magnitude compared to conventional methods. However, the technique requires extremely expensive instrumentation and has primarily been applied to measurement of the ultra-low concentrations of radionuclides found in environmental samples.

Beasley, et al (1992; 1993) and Mann and Beasley (1994) have reviewed a number of applications of accelerator mass spectrometry for determination of ³⁶Cl and ¹²⁹I in natural waters and other geochemical media. This technology provides more than adequate sensitivity and selectivity for measuring these radionuclides in lowlevel wastes from nuclear power reactors, and could be adapted for these samples by minor procedural modifications. Bertsche et al. (1990) built a small cyclotron (the "cyclotrino"). The initial work emphasized ¹⁴C, but measurements of other radionuclides, such as ²⁶Al, ¹⁰Be, and ³H, are also possibilities for the cyclotrino.

Davis (1991) suggested that a family of very small spectrometers optimized for tritium and/or radiocarbon could be built in the very near future for about \$400K.

Fifield et al. (1991) enhanced AMS detection levels for measuring ³⁶Cl and ¹⁴C isotopes through increased accelerating voltage (i.e., from 12 MV to 14 MV) which results in a substantial increase in the yield of ³⁶Cl and ¹⁴C ions. In addition, they have implemented an AMS ¹²⁹I capability.

Fink, Middleton, and Klein (1991) routinely analyzed ¹⁰Be, ²⁶Al, and ⁴¹Ca in various types of environmental samples using AMS. In addition, they recently experimented with measuring ³H, ¹⁴C, ³⁶Cl, and ⁵⁹Ni by AMS and produced encouraging results.

5 References

Amano, R., "Rapid and Sensitive Determination of Pertechnetate in ⁹⁹Mo/Metastable Technetium-99 Generator Eluates by Reversed-Phase High-Performance Liquid Chromatography," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry*, 152(1):81-86, 1991.

Aznarez, L., J. Galban, C. Diaz, and J. M. Rabadan, "Extraction Spectrofluorometric Determination of Cadmium with Diethyldithiocarbamate and Calcein in Non-aqueous Media," *Analytica Acta*, 198: 281-286, 1987.

Baldwin, D. L., "Tritium in Irradiated Cladding Materials," PNL-ALO-479, PNL-MA-599, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington, 1989.

Baldwin, D. L., "Measurement of Carbon-14 in Metals," PNL-ALO-412, PNL-MA-599, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington, 1992.

Beasley, T.M., et al., "Clorine-36 in the Snake River Plain Aquifer at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory: Origin and Applications," Ground Water, 31(2): 302-310, March-April, 1993.

Beasley, T.M., D. Elmore, P.W. Kubik, and P. Sharma, "Chlorine-36 Releases from the Savannah River Site Nuclear Fuel Reprocessing Facilities," Ground Water, 30(4): 539-548, July-August, 1992.

Bertsche, K. J., C. A. Karadi, R. A. Muller, and G. C. Paulson, "Detection of Radiocarbon in the Cyclotrino," *Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research*, B52: 398-404, 1990.

Beverly, C. R., "Tc-99 Determination in Uranium and in Contaminated Waste (Liquid Scintillation Counting)," R-37, 22 July 1986.

Bickel, M., S. Mobius, F. Kilian, and H. Becker, "Investigations on a Rapid Method for the Estimation of Alpha Activity Content in Nuclear Power Primary Coolant," *Radiochimica Acta* 57: 141-151, 1992.

Bochkarev, V. A., N. P. Martynov, V. G. Slivin, A. E. Trikanov, and N. V. Fedyaeva, "Separation of Americium and Curium from Complex Chemical and Radiochemical Mixtures," *Radiokhimiya* 30(2):248-250, March-April 1988. Brauer, F. P., "Measurement Methods for Low-Level ¹²⁹I Determinations," PNL-SA-16788, presented at 11th Annual DOE Low-Level Waste Management Conference, 23 June 1989, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington.

Braun, H., D. Grundler, H. Bonka, H. Gutowski, and J. Weber, in Proceedings: Management of Gaseous Wastes from Nuclear Facilities, IAEA-SM-245/9: 18-22 Vienna, Austria, February 1980.

Byrne, A. R., "Activation Analysis of Tin at Nanogram Level by Liquid Scintillation Counting of ¹²¹Sn," *Journal* of Radioanalytical Chemistry, 37:591-597, 1977.

Chen, Q., A. Aarkrog, S. Nielsen, H. Dahlgaard, H. Nies, Y. Yu, and K. Mandrup, "Determination of Plutonium in Environmental Samples by Controlled Valence in Anion Exchange," RISØ-M-2856, February 1991, RISØ National Laboratory, roskilde, Denmark.

Cline, J. E., J. R. Noyce, L. J. Coe, and K. W. Wright, "Assay of Long-Lived Radionuclides in Low-Level Waste from Power Reactors," NUREG/CR-4101, April 1985.

Danesi, P. R., L. Reichley-Yinger, C. Cianetti and P. G. Rickert, "Solvent Extraction and Ion Exchange," 2(6):815-838, 1984.

Davis, J. C., "New Applications of Accelerator Mass Spectrometry," 7th Australian Conference on Nuclear Techniques of Analysis, Melbourne, Australia, November 20-22, 1991.

Desai, H. B., and R. Parthasarathy, "A Radiochemical Neutron Activation Analysis Method for the Determination of Tin, Arsenic, Copper, and Antimony for the Forensic Comparison of Bullet Lead Specimens," *Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry*, 77(1):235-240, 1983.

Dietz, M. L., E. P. Horwitz, D. M. Nelson, and M. Wahlgren, "An Improved Method for Determining ⁸⁹Sr and ⁹⁰Sr in Urine," *Health Physics*, 61:871-877, 1991.

Ejaz, M., and A. M. Mamoon, "Studies on the Recovery of ⁹⁹Mo from Uranium Fission Products," *Journal of the Transactions of the America Nuclear Society*, 54:97-98, 1987.

References

ES&H Analytical Services, "99-Technetium Beta Activity Analysis of Soils and Sediments," TSD-553-340, 1 March 1991.

Fifield, L. K., G. L. Allan, M. J. Stuckings, and T. R. Ophel, "Recent Developments in AMS at ANU," 7th Australian Conference on Nuclear Techniques of Analysis, Melbourne, Australia, 20-22 November 1991.

Fink, D., R. Middleton, and J. Klein, "AMS at the University of Pennsylvania FN Tandem: Highlights and Review," 7th Australian Conference on Nuclear Techniques of Analysis, Melbourne, Australia, 20-22 November 1991.

Ghods-esphahani, A., J. C. Veselsky, S. Zhu, A. Mirna, and R. Schelenz, "Determination of ⁹⁰Sr and ⁹¹Y in Vegetation Samples Contaminated by Fallout Debris from the Chernobyl Accident,"in Proceedings: Environmental Contamination Following a Major Nuclear Accident, Vol. 1, IAEA-SM-306/91:16-20 Vienna, October 1989.

Grigor'eva, T. A., and S. S. Kravtsova, "Isolation of Transplutonium Elements on Cation Exchanger KU-2," *Radiokhimiya*, 32(6):72-75, November-December 1990.

Horwitz, E. P., M. L. Dietz, D. M. Nelson, J. J. LaRosa, and W. D. Fairman, "Concentration and Separation of Actinides from Urine Using a Supported Bifunctional Organophosphorous Extractant," *Analytica Chemica Acta*, 238:263-267, 1990.

Horwitz, E. P., M. L. Dietz, and D. E. Fisher, "Separation and Preconcentration of Strontium from Biological, Environmental, and Nuclear Waste Samples by Extraction Chromotography Using a Crown Ether," *Analytical Chemistry*, 63:522-525, 1991.

Itoh, K., "Beryllium in Sediments of Nagoya Harbor Estuaries," *Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 36:935-941, 1986.

Joshi, S. R., "Isolation and Alpha-Particle Spectrometric Determination of ²³⁸Pu and ^{239,240}Pu in Sediments," *Journal* of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Articles, 102(1):187-193, 1986. Joshi, S. R., "Lanthanum Fluoride Coprecipitation Technique for the Preparation of Actinides for Alpha-Particle Spectrometry," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Articles*, 90(2):409-414, 1985.

Kapauan, P. A, and E. C. Zuleta, "Determination of Molybdenum in Ferrous Materials by Solvent Extraction-Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometry," *Philippines Nuclear Journal*, 3:253-257, 1975.

Kimura, T., K. Iwashima, T. Ishimori and H. Haguchi, "Separation of Strontium Ion from a Large Amount of Calcium Ion by the Use of a Macrocyclic Ether," *Chemistry Letters*, 5:563-564, 1977.

Kleinberg, Jacob, Editor, "Collected Radiochemical and Geochemical Procedures," LA-1721, 5th Edition, Los Alamos National Laboratory, New Mexico, May 1990.

Knowles, G. K., in Proceedings: Conference on Analytical Chemistry in Energy Technology, CONF-791049-13:87-94, Gatlinburg, Tennessee, 9 October 1979.

Kohl, C. P., and K. Nishiizumi, "Chemical Isolation of Quartz for Measurement of In-Situ-Produced Cosmogenic Nuclides," *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 56:3583-3587, 1992.

Kramer, G. H., "The Optimization of the Analysis of ⁶³Ni in Urine," *Health Physics*, 47(4):623-627, October 1984.

Kramer, G. H., and S. Joseph, "The Simultaneous Analysis of Chlorine-36 and Phosphorous-32 in Urine," *Canadian Journal of Chemistry* 62:23-44, 1984.

Kuleff, I., S. Zotschev, and G. Stefanov, "Determination of the ¹²⁹I Content of the Primary Coolant of Nuclear Power Reactors," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Articles*, 97(1):73-79, 1986.

Kunz, C., "Carbon-14 Discharge at Three Light-Water Reactors," *Health Physics*, 49(1):25-35, July 1985.

Leaf, A. C., "Separation of Tin-126 by Anion Exchange Prior to Measurement by Gamma Counting," PNL- ALO-453, PNL-MA-599, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington, 1987.

Lepel, E. A., S. L. Pratt, D. E. Robertson, C. W. Thomas, and D. L. Haggard, "Radiological Characterization of

Spent Control Rod Assemblies," PNL-SA-23417 presented at Methods and Applications of Radioanalytical Chemistry-III, Kailua-Kona, Hawaii, April 1994.

Lesny, J., Z. Korenova, J. Tolgyessy, B. Novruzi, and A. Cela, "Determination of Cadmium by Sub- and Super-Equivalence Isotope Dilution Analyses," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Letters* 128(6):443-448, 1988.

Mann, L.J., and T.M. Beasley, "Iodine-129 in the Snake River Plain Aquifer at and Near the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, 1990-91," U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 94-4053, Idaho Falls, Idaho, April, 1994.

Mok, W. M., and C. M. Wai, "Preconcentration with Dithiocarbamate Extraction for Determination of Molybdenum in Seawater by Neutron Activation Analysis," *Analytical Chemistry*, 56:27-29, 1984.

Rigin, V. I., "Extraction-Atomic-Fluorescence Determination of Beryllium," *Journal Analytical Chemistry of USSR*, 39(5), Part 1:642-648, May 1984.

Robertson, D., D. Haggard, C. Thomas, and N. Wynhoff, "Radiological Characterization of Neutron-Activated Metal Wastes from Nuclear Power Stations," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Articles*, 161(2):585-595, 1992.

Saas, A., "Quality Control for Low and Medium Active Waste," Task 3. No. 42, EUR 13878, 1991, Commission of the European Communities, Luxembourg.

Samudralwar, D. L., R. B. Lanjewar, and A. N. Garg, "Radiochemical Solvent Extraction of Molybdenum/VI Using ⁹⁹Mo Tracer," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Letters* 119(3):211-221, 1987. Spec News (Product Literature), A Publication of Eichrom Industries, Inc., Vol 1, Issue 1, June, 1992; Vol 1, Issue 2, September - December, 1992; Vol 2, Issue 1, April, 1993; Vol 2, Issue 2, August, 1993, Darien, Illinois.

Strebin, Jr., R. S., 1993a. "Nickel Separation from Radioactive Solutions Using Chromatography," PNL-ALO-495.1, PNL-MA-599, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington. Strebin, Jr., R. S., 1993b. "Separation of Am and Pu and Actinide Screen by Extraction Chromatography," PNL-ALO-417, PNL-MA-599, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington.

Strebin, Jr., R. S., 1993c. "Strontium Determination Using SR-SPEC[™]," PNL-ALO-476, PNL-MA-599, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington.

Tait, D., A. Wiechen, and W. Behrens, "A Fast Method for Isolating Sr Radioisotopes from Raw Milk," *Milchwissenschaft* 44(12):765-768, 1989.

Vin, Y. Y., and S. M. Khopkar, "Extraction-Chromatographic Separation of Beryllium with Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phosphoric Acid," *Analyst*, 113:175-177, January 1988.

Wyse, E. J., "Inductively Coupled Plasma-Mass Spectrometric (ICP-MS) Analysis," PNL-ALO-280, PNL-MA-599, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, Washington, 1993.

Xinqi, L., H.W. Gaggeler, D. Laske, H. Synal, W. Wolfli, F.C.J. Brandt, J.C. Alder, and K. Kurtz, "Determination of the ³⁶Cl Content in Reactor Cooling Water and Active Resins from Swiss Nuclear Power Plants," Technical Report 91-07, National Cooperative for the Disposal of Radioactive Waste, Switzerland, April 1991.

Yonezawa, C., T. Sagawa, M. Hoshi, and E. Tachikawa, "Rapid Determination of Specific Activity of Nickel-63," *Journal of Radioanalytical Chemistry*, 78(1):7-14, 1983.

Appendix A

Summary of PNNL Radiochemical Procedures for 10 CFR Part 61 and Additional Long-Lived Radionuclides

.

Appendix A

Summary of PNNL Radiochemical Procedures for 10 CFR Part 61 and Additional Long-Lived Radionuclides

A.1 Aluminum-26

Aluminum-26 in aliquots of borosilicate glass from burnable poison rods is measured by instrumental analysis. A triple coincident gamma-ray spectrometric technique is used which measures both 511-keV gamma photons from positron annihilation and the 1809-keV gamma photon.

A.2 Beryllium-10

The concentrations of ¹⁰Be in aliquots of borosilicate glass from burnable poison rods and boron carbide from cruciform control rods are determined by adding beryllium carrier and ⁷Be tracer to the aliquots, alkali fusing the samples, dissolving the residues in acid, and precipitating beryllium as the hydroxide. The precipitates are dissolved in dilute nitric acid, adjusted to pH 5, extracted with acetylacetone into chloroform, and back extracted into nitric acid. Beryllium is precipitated as the hydroxide and then as BaBeF₄. Beryllium-10 is measured in a beta scintillation spectrometer Yields are determined by measuring the ⁷Be tracer in a gamma spectrometer

A.3 Cadmium-109,-113m

Cadmium-109,-113m are measured in the Ag-Cd-In alloy of rod cluster control assemblies (RCCAs) by treating aliquots of nitric acid dissolutions of the alloy with repeated silver chloride precipitate scavenging steps. The supernates from each aliquot are combined and evaporated to dryness. The residues are dissolved in dilute HBr-nitric acid solution and passed through anion columns. The columns are washed and the cadmium is eluted with 2 M nitric acid. The eluates are evaporated to dryness, the residues are dissolved in NH₄OH and adjusted to pH 8 with HCl/NaOH. Cadmium sulfide is precipitated with thioacetamide, filtered, and dried. Cadmium-109 is determined by gamma spectrometry and ^{133m}Cd is determined by beta absorption counting.

A.4 Carbon-14

Carbon-14, in irradiated metals, is measured by total combustion in oxygen in a LECO induction furnace within shielded hot cells. Carbon-14, in the form of CO_2 , is collected in NaOH collection bubblers and measured by liquid scintillation spectrometry. Yields are determined by using suitable NIST-traceable metal standards.

Carbon-14, in ion exchange resin, is measured by total combustion with alcohol at 250° C in a Packard sample oxidizer. Carbon-14, in the form of CO₂, is dried and collected on a Carbo-sorbTM column and counted in a beta scintillation spectrometer

A.5 Chlorine-36

Chlorine-36, in borosilicate glass from burnable poison rods, is measured by alkali fusing the sample, dissolving the residue in acid, and scavenging with a ferric hydroxide precipitation. Chlorine is precipitated as silver chloride and chlorine-36 is measured in a beta scintillation spectrometer Yield is determined using ³⁸Cl tracer.

A.6 Iodine-129

Iodine-129 is measured in various reactor samples by absorbing iodine on an anion column from a liquid aliquot of the sample. The ¹²⁹I is eluted from the column by oxidizing with NaOCI. Iodine is further purified by solvent extraction using carbon tetrachloride and hydroxlyamine-hydrochloride and back extraction into a water-sulfite solution. The iodine is precipitated with palladious chloride, and iodine-129 is determined by measurement of xenon daughter x-rays using a thinwindow intrinsic germanium detector. Yields are determined gravimetrically.

TM Registered trademark of Packard Instrument Co., Meriden, Connecticut.

Appendix A

A.7 Molybdenum-93

Molybdenum-93 is measured in reactor hardware samples by scavenging acid dissolution aliquots repeatedly with Fe-Co-Ni-Nb hydroxide precipitates from a weak sodium hydroxide solution containing a trace of NaNO₂. Molybdenum is then precipitated as lead molybdate. Molybdenum-93 is determined using a thin-window intrinsic germanium detector through measurement of the niobium daughter x-rays. Yields are determined by using ⁹⁹Mo tracer

A.8 Neptunium-237

Neptunium-237 is separated from nuclear waste samples onto anion exchange resin from a strong nitric acid solution. The anion column is washed with strong HCl and neptunium is eluted using HCl-HF acid. The eluate is evaporated to dryness with nitric acid, and neptunium is subsequently electroplated from a dilute sulfuric acid solution. The separated and purified ²³⁷Np is quantified using an alpha energy spectrometer Neptunium-239 is utilized during the separation procedure as a yield tracer.

A.9 Nickel-59,-63

Nickel radionuclides are separated from reactor waste by successive steps of chelating iron with citric acid and precipitating the nickel as dimethylglyoxime. The final dimethylglyoxime precipitate is weighed and mounted for measurement of the ⁵⁹Ni x-rays with a low energy gamma spectrometer. The precipitate is then carefully dissolved in nitric acid and taken to dryness. The residue is dissolved in weak HCI and prepared for beta counting in a liquid scintillation spectrometer for ⁶³Ni. Yields are determined gravimetrically.

A.10 Niobium-93m,-94

Niobium-93m,-94 are measured in neutron-activated reactor hardware, after dissolution of the metal samples, by precipitation of niobic oxide in concentrated nitric acid. Both stable niobium carrier and ⁹⁵Nb tracer are added during the separation. Niobium-94 is measured by gamma-ray spectrometric techniques while ^{93m}Nb is determined by measuring the niobium x-rays using a thin window intrinsic germanium detector. Yields are determined by measuring the ⁹⁵Nb tracer by gamma-ray spectrometry.

A.11 Strontium-90

Strontium-90 is measured in aliquots of dissolved reactor samples using ⁸⁵Sr as tracer. The sample aliquot is converted to 8 M HNO₃ and passed through a Sr-Spec[™] resin column [contains 4,4'(5')-bis(tert-butylcyclohexano)-18-crown-6]. After washing the column with 8 M HNO₃, Sr is eluted with 0.05 M HNO₃, precipitated as the oxalate, and beta counted. Yield is determined by counting the ⁸⁵Sr in a gamma spectrometer

A.12 Technetium-99

Technetium-99 is separated from aliquots of dissolved reactor samples using repeated iron hydroxide co-precipitations followed by further co-precipitation, with rhenium carrier, using tetraphenyl arsonium chloride reagent. Technetium-99 is quantified using a thin-window beta proportional counter. Absorption curves are obtained for all samples to confirm the presence of ⁹⁹Tc. Technetium-95 is used as a tracer for analytical yield.

A.13 Tin-121m,-126

Tin radionuclides are separated from acid dissolutions of reactor samples by extracting with toluene from a sulfuric acid-KI solution, washing with H₂SO₄-KI solutions, and then back extracting into a dilute sulfuric acid solution. Tin-117 is used as tracer for radiochemical yield determinations. Measurement of the Sb x-rays from ^{121m}Sn and the 87.6-keV gamma rays from ¹²⁶Sn is accomplished using a low-energy gamma spectrometer The Sb x-rays from ^{121m}Sn are corrected for any contribution from Sb x-rays associated with the decay of ¹²⁶Sn.

A.14 Transuranics

Isotopes of americium, curium, and plutonium are separated from acid dissolutions of reactor samples. Aliquots are spiked with ²⁴²Pu and ²⁴³Am as yield tracers. The solutions are adjusted to 2 M HNO₃ and iron and ascorbic acid are added to complex and reduce iron to Fe(II). TRU-SpecTM resin columns containing octyl(phenyl)-N, N-diisobutylcarbamoylmethylphosphine oxide are equilibrated with 2 M HNO₃ and the samples are passed through the columns. After washing the columns, americium and curium are respectively eluted with 9 M HCl and 4 M HCl. Plutonium is eluted with 4 M HCl—0.1 M hydroquinone. Small amounts of Nd carrier are added to the plutonium and americium-curium fractions and the fluorides are precipitated and counted by alpha energy analysis.

A.15 Tritium

Tritium is measured in reactor waste samples of dissolved borosilicate glass, boron carbide, and ion exchange resin by multiple distillation of tritium oxide and beta measurement in a liquid scintillation spectrometer Total tritium is determined in Zircaloy cladding and other metals which are non-volatile at 2600°C. The method uses a LECO Impulse resistance furnace, Model EF-10. The samples are melted in a graphite crucible in the furnace for 2-3 minutes in a flowing stream of 6% hydrogen in helium. The gas stream is routed through a hot copper oxide column to convert tritium gas to water. Tritiated water is collected in a bubbler trap and the carrier gas is routed back into the cell. Tritium is measured by liquid scintillation counting.

References to Procedures That Might Be Further Adapted to Analyze Radioactive Wastes

.

References to Procedures That Might Be Further Adapted to Analyze Radioactive Wastes

B.1 Aluminum-26

Largarde-Simonoff, M., J. Dedieu, S. Regnier, and G. Simonoff, "Separation Chimique Simultanee des Horloges Cosmiques ³⁶Cl, ²⁶Al, ¹⁰Be Formees dans des Cibles de Fer, Titane et Calcium par Protons de Haute Energie," *Radiochemical and Radioanalytical Letters*, 47(1-2):1-10,1981.

B.2 Americium-Curium

Tikhomirova, G. S., and L. I. Guseva, "Rapid Method of Separating Am(VI) from Transplutonium and Rare-Earth Elements on a Cation Exchanger in Phosphoric Acid," *Radiokhimlya*, 29(6):814-818, 1988.

B.3 Beryllium-10

Largarde-Simonoff, M., J. Dedieu, S. Regnier, and G. Simonoff, "Separation Chimique Simultanee des Horloges Cosmoques ³⁶Cl, ²⁶Al, ¹⁰Be Formees dans des Cibles de Fer, Titane et Calcium par Protons de Haute Energie," *Radiochemical and Radioanalytical Letters*, 47(1-2):1-10,1981.

B.4 Cadmium; Cd-113m,-115

Dupuis, M-C., et M. Dupuis, "Separation et Purification de ¹¹¹Ag, ⁹⁹Mo,¹³²Te, ¹¹⁵Cd dans un Melange de Produits de Fission", *Radiochimica Acta*, 2:4-6, October 1983.

Melgard, R., "A Study of Techniques for Reactor Effluent Analysis," AFSWC-TDR-62-146; AD-295426, December 1962, Air Force Special Weapons Center, Kirtland AFB, New Mexico.

Noshkin, V. E., K. M. Wong, R. J. Eagle, D. L. Anglin, "Concentration of ^{113m}Cd in the Marine Environment," *Nature*, 287:18, September 1980. Taylor, P. D. P., B. Desmet, R. Dams, "The Determination of Cadmium in Sewer Sludge of Domestic Origin by Means of Ion Exchange Combined with ICP-AES and Ion Exchange Combined with GF-AS," *Bulletin des Societes Chimiques Belges*, 95(0):5-6,1986.

Zmijewska, W., H. Polkowska-Motrenko, and H. Stokowska, "Radiochemical Separation of Hg, In/Cd/, Tc/Mo/, Cu, Zn, as After Preconcentration from Water," *Radiochemical and Radioanalytical Letters*, 59(5-6):337-346, 1983.

Zmijewska, W., H. Polkowska-Motrenko, H. Stokowska, "Preconcentration of Trace Elements from Water by Coprecipitation and Ion Exchange," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Articles*, 84(2):319-328, 1984.

B.5 Carbon-14

Levin, I., B. Kromer, M. Barabas, and K. O. Munnich, "Environmental Distribution and Long-Term Dispersion of Reactor ¹⁴CO₂ Around Two German Nuclear Power Plants," *Health Physics*, 54(2):149-156, February, 1988.

Joshi, M. L., B. Ramamirtham, and S. D. Soman, "Measurement of Emission Rates from Pressurized Heavy Water Reactor," *Health Physics*, 52(6):787-791, June 1987.

B.6 Chlorine-36

Berger, J. A., G. Meyniel, and J. Petit, "Quelques Applications de la Chromatographie sur Couches Minces D'Echangeurs D'Ions en Analyse Minerale," *Journal of Chromatography*, 29:190-202, 1967.

Lagarde-Simonoff, M., J. Dedieu, S. Regnier, and G. Simonoff, "Separation Chimique Simultanee des Horloges Cosmiques ³⁶CL, ²⁶Al, ¹⁰Be Formees dans des Cibles de Fer, Titane et Calcium par Protons de Haute Energie, *Radiochemical and Radioanalytical Letters*, 47(1-2):1-10, 1982.

B.7 Iodine-129

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). "Determination of Iodine-129 in Waste Tank Samples," LA-378-103, 2-20-1992. *DOE Procedures Database*. Available electronically through SEARCHmateTM. Method supplied by S. A. Catlow. Contact Pat Brug at (505) 665-7409, eMail address - brug@lanl.gov. Los Alamos, New Mexico.

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). "Radiochemical Determination of Uranium in Water," 905863MD-C, 11-5-1990, *DOE Procedures Database*. Available electronically through SEARCHmateTM. Method supplied by C. T. Bishop et al. Contact Pat Brug at (505) 665-7409, eMail address - brug@lanl.gov. Los Alamos, New Mexico.

McFarland, R. C., "Demonstration of Coincidence Summing Effects Observed with N-Type Germanium Detectors in the 20-to 40-keV Energy Range When Counting ¹²"I, ¹²⁵I, and ¹²⁵Sb," *Radioactivity and Radiochemistry*, 4(2), 1993.

Ravi, P. M., M. R. Iyer, S. G. Sahasrabudhe, M. S. Subramanian, and S. Somasundaram, "A Method for Quick Estimation of ¹²⁹I by Low Energy Photon Spectrometry," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Letters*, 108(2):99-108, 1986.

Rook, H. L., J. E. Suddueth, and D. A. Becker, "Determination of Iodine-129 at Natural Levels Using Neutron Activation and Isotopic Separation," *Analytical Chemistry*, 47(9), August 1975.

Strebin, Jr., R. S., F. P. Brauer, J. H. Kaye, M. S. Rapids, and J. J. Stoffel, "Neutron Activation and Mass Spectrometric Measurement of ¹²⁹I," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Letters*, 127(1):59-73, 1988.

B.8 Molybdenum; Mo-93

Baker, J. D., J. S. Jessup, and M. L. Chow, "The Extraction Behavior of Molybdenum Using Dihexyl-N,N-Diethylcarbamoylmethylphosphonate," *Solvent Extraction and Ion Exchange*, 1(3):553-564, 1983.

Dupuis, M-C., et M. Dupuis, "Separation et Purification de ¹¹¹Ag, ⁹⁹Mo, ¹³²Te, ¹¹⁵Cd dans un Melange de Produits de Fission," *Radiochimica Acta*, 2:4-6, October 1983.

Melgard, R., "A Study of Techniques for Reactor Effluent Analysis," AFSWC-TDR-62-146; AD-295426, December 1962, Air Force Special Weapons Center, Kirtland AFB, New Mexico.

Zmijewska, W., H. Polkowska-Motrenko, and H. Stokowska, "Preconcentration of Trace Elements from Water by Coprecipitation and Ion Exchange," *Journal of Radioanalytical and Nuclear Chemistry, Articles*, 84(2):319-328, 1984.

÷

B.9 Neptunium

Melgard, R., "A Study of Techniques for Reactor Effluent Analysis," AFSWC-TDR-62-146; AD-295426, December 1962, Air Force Special Weapons Center, Kirtland AFB, New Mexico.

Morello, M., C. Colle, and J. Bernard, "Mesure du Neptunium 237 dans l'Environnement," *Journal of the Less-Common Metals*, 122:569-576, 1986.

B.10 Nickel; Ni-63

Goerlich, W., E. Schenker, and J. Hanulik, "Quantitative Determination of Iron-55, Nickel-59, and Nickel-63 in Reactor Components," Fachverb Strahlen-Schutz (Ber.) FS-83-32-T:335-345, 1983.

Sayles, F. L., and L. A. Ball, "Release and Migration of Activation Products from Corrosion-Resistant Metal Specimens in Marine Sediments," WHOI-86-6, March 1986, Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, Woods Hole, Massachusetts. Van Loon, J. C., Selected Methods of Trace Metal Analysis, Wiley, New York.

B.11 Plutonium

Miyake, Y., K. Saruhashi, Y. Sugimura, T. Kanazawa, and K. Hirose, "Contents of ¹³⁷Cs, Plutonium and Americium Isotopes in the Southern Ocean Waters," *Meteorology and Geophysics*, 39(3):95-113, 1988.

Noshkin, V. E., J. L. Brunk, T. A. Jokela, and K. M. Wong, "²³⁸Pu Concentrations in the Marine Environment at San Clemente Island," *Health Physics*, 40:643-659, May 1981.

Noshkin, V. E., K. M. Wong, and R. J. Eagle, "Plutonium Concentrations in Fish and Seawater from Kwajalein Atoll," *Health Physics*, 37:549-556, October 1979.

Sekine, K., T. Imai, and A. Kasai, "Liquid-Liquid Extraction Separation and Sequential Determination of Plutonium and Americium in Environmental Samples by Alpha-Spectrometry," *Talanta*, 34(6):567-570, 1987.

B.12 Strontium-90

Bernardi, T., and G. V. Testoni, "A Proposed Multi-Detector Method for Prompt ⁹⁰Sr Detection in Post-Accident Environmental Matrices," *Health Physics*, 58(3):329-339, March 1990.

Horwitz, E. P., M. L. Dietz, D. E. Fisher, "SREX: A New Process for the Extraction and Recovery of Strontium from Acidic Nuclear Waste Streams," *Solvent Extraction and Ion Exchange*, 9(5), 1991.

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). "Determination of Strontium 89, 90 in Soil and Other Solids," RAP-8, 10-26-1988. *DOE Procedures Database*. Available electronically through SEARCHmateTM. Method supplied by L. A. Weinrich. Contact Pat Brug at (505) 665-7409, eMail address - brug@lanl.gov. Los Alamos, New Mexico.

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). "An Improved Method for the Determination of Strontium-89/90 in Soil and Environmental Samples," 11-1-1987. DOE Procedures Database. Available electronically through SEARCHmate[™]. Method supplied by D. S. Sill. Contact Pat Brug at (505) 665-7409, eMail address brug@lanl.gov. Los Alamos, New Mexico.

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). "Determination of Strontium-89 and-90 in Soil with Total Sample Decomposition," Sr-2, 1979. *DOE Procedures Database*. Available electronically through SEARCHmate[™]. Method supplied by D. B. Martin. Contact Pat Brug at (505) 665-7409, eMail address - brug@lanl.gov. Los Alamos, New Mexico.

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). "Strontium-90 in Environmental Matrices," ER190, 9-15-1989. DOE Procedures Database. Available electronically through SEARCHmate[™]. Method supplied by B. B. Bates. Contact Pat Brug at (505) 665-7409, eMail address brug@lanl.gov. Los Alamos, New Mexico.

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). "Strontium-90 in Environmental Matrices," ER190, 9-15-1989. DOE Procedures Database. Available electronically through SEARCHmate[™]. Method supplied by B. B. Bates. Contact Pat Brug at (505) 665-7409, eMail address brug@lanl.gov. Los Alamos, New Mexico.

Los Alamos National Laboratory (LANL). "Strontium-89 and Strontium-90 in Waste Water-Ion Exchange," WR190, 7-15-1985. *DOE Procedures Database*. Available electronically through SEARCHmateTM. Method supplied by T. D. Filer. Contact Pat Brug at (505) 665-7409, eMail address - brug@lanl.gov. Los Alamos, New Mexico.

B.13 Technetium

Davis, T. M., D. M. Nelson, and E. G. Thompson, "Monitoring for ⁹⁹Tc in Borehole Waters Using an Extraction Chromatographic Resin," *Radioactivity and Radiochemistry*, 4(2), 1993.

B.14 Tin

Patton, T. L., and W. R. Penrose, "Fission Product Tin in Sediments," *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 10:201-211, 1989.

B.15 Transuranics

Horwitz, E. P., H. Diamond, R. C. Gatrone, K. L. Nash, and P. G. Rickert, "A New Class of Aqueous Complexing Agents for Use in Solvent Extraction Process," presented at the International Solvent Extraction Conference, Kyoto Japan, 16-21 July 1990.

Horwitz, E. P., and W. W. Schultz, "Transuranium Extraction (TRUEX) Process: A Vital Tool for Disposal of U.S. Defense Nuclear Waste," Seminar on New Separation Chemistry for Radioactive Waste and Other Specific Applications, Rome, Italy, 13-18 May 1990.

B.16 Liquid Scintillation

Wuu, J. L., and H. T. Chen, "The Study of Efficiency Tracing Technique of Liquid Scintillation Counter," *Nuclear Science Journal*, 28(6), December 1991.

Bukowski, T. R., T. C. Moffett, J. H. Revkin, and J. D. Ploger, "Triple-Label Beta Liquid Scintillation Counting," *Analytical Biochemistry*, 204:171-180, 1992.

ŧ

1

The result of the second se	NRC FORM 335 (PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Commission Right and mailing address.	Addendum Numbers, If any.) UREG/CR-6230 NL-9444			
District District Oct And Summitte Commentation on the entropy Intra Add Summitte Commentation on the entropy Intra Add Summitte Set Leader Summitte Set Leader Summitte	BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA SHEET N (See instructions on the reverse) N P. See instructions on the reverse) N P. Radioanalytical Technology for 10 CFR Part 61 and Other 3. Selected Radionuclides 3. Literature Review M. 5. AUTHORISI 6. T C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson 6. T 7. PE Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Region, US Nuclear Regulatory Commission and mailing address. Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Region, US Nuclear Regulatory Commission of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research	UREG/CR-6230 NL-9444			
Internation on the energy PNL-9444 Radioanal ytical Technology for 10 CFR Part 61 and Other Selected Radionuclides 1 Data Report Function Within 1996 Literature Review 1 March 1996 1 Automnes 1 Net Report Function (1996 1 Presconting Oncanization - NAME AND ADDRESS (Funct Core Team advart Report of March Report Core Statistication (1997 Net Report Core Statistication (1997 1 Presconting Contraction - Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Core Statistication (1997 Net Report Core Statistication (1997 Net Report Core Report	(See instructions on the reverse) 2. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Radioanalytical Technology for 10 CFR Part 61 and Other Selected Radionuclides Literature Review 4. Fi Literature Review 5. AUTHOR(S) C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson 7. PE 8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Office or Regulatory Commission B. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Commission B. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Commission B. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Office or Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research	NL-9444			
A. Comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring IOCFR61 radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring IOCFR61 radioanalytical technology and procedures with alf-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radioactive waste. The IOCFR61 radioanalytical chemistry evaluated from the streams from nuclear power stations.	2. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Radioanal ytical Technology for 10 CFR Part 61 and Other Selected Radionuclides 3. 3. Literature Review 4. Fi 5. AUTHOR(S) 6. TY C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson 6. TY 7. PE 7. PE 8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) 6. TY 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same at above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Region and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same at above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Region and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same at above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Region and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same at above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Region and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same at above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Region and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "S				
Selected Radionuclides Literature Review a. DATE REPORT FURLISHED Authonis C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson a. THEO GRANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (FMMC, provide Dates of Argue, US Noder Arguiney Commission and names address of active dates of a TYPE OF REPORT a. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (FMMC, provide Dates of Argue, US Noder Arguiney Commission and names address of active dates of a transmission and names address of active dates of a transmission and names address of active dates of a transmission address of active dates of the active da	Selected Radionuclides Literature Review M 4. Fi 5. AUTHOR(S) C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson 7. PE 8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 7. PE 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Commission 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Commission 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Commission 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; // contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Contractory Richland, WA 99352				
Literature Review Authongs C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson Literature Review Review Review Review Review Review Review Review Literature Review Literature Review Review Review Review Literature Review Literature Review Revi	Literature Review Literature Review S. MUTHORISI C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson B. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 P. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, type "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) P. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, type "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) P. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION – NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, type "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Régulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research				
AUTHORED C.H. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson TFEROMANNE ONGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// MCC panels Database Office of Report () Covered Database Office of Report () TFEROMANNE ONGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// MCC panels Database Office of Report () Covered Database Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Mashington, DC 20555-0001 Submission of Régulatory Commission Mashington, DC 20555-0001 Submission ANC Project Manager 1. ASSTRACT Report Notes A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring IOCFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The IDCFR61 radionuclides include ^{1/0} , ^{6/0} C, ^{50,6} , ^{50,4} , ^{10,5} , ^{50,4} , ^{50,5} , ^{10,4} , ^{11,7} CS, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{1/0} , ^{60,2} , ^{50,4} , ^{10,5} , ^{10,5} , ^{10,5} , ^{10,5} , ^{11,10} CG, and ^{11,10,10,5} , which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations.	A. FILL S. AUTHORISI C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson A. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS III NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS III NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Sponsoring ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS III NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Division of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research	MONTH YEAR			
A UTHORES C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson	4. Fi 5. AUTHOR(S) C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson 7. PE 8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, syme "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, syme "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Office or Regulatory Applications 0 SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, syme "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Office or Regulatory Applications	arch '1996			
AUTHORSE) C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson 2. PERIOD COVERED tinchure During 2. PERIOD COVERED TIONS 2. PERIOD COVERED tinchure DURING 2. PERIOD COVERED TIONS 2. PERIOD COVERED tinchure DURING 2. PERIOD COVERED tinchure DURING 2. PERIOD COVERED tinchure DURING 2. PERIOD COVERED tinchure DURING 2. PERIOD COVERED TIONS tinchure DURING 2. PERIOD COVERED TIONS tinchure DURING 2. PERIOD COVERED TIONS tinchure DURING	S. AUTHOR(S) C.W. Thomas, V.W. Thomas, D.E. Robertson 7. PE 8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, type "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research	N OR GRANT NUMBER			
C.W. THOMAS, V.W. THOMAS, D.E. RODERSON 7.PERIOD COVERED Showshow barred 7.PERIOD COVERED Showshowshowshowshowshowshowshowshowshows	 C.W. THOMAS, V.W. THOMAS, D.E. RODETLSON PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, provider Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Régulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research 	YPE OF REPORT			
PERCOMMING OBGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS IF NRC, provide Duelon, Office of Angeles of Consisting address, if converses, provide measuring address, if converses, provide MAC Duelon, Office of Angeles, U.S. Muchen Angeleson, C.S. Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen Angeleson, C.S. Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, U.S. Muchen, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, U.S. Muchen, U.S. Muchen, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, Muchen, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, Muchen Angeleson, U.S. Muchen, Muchen, U.S. Muchen, Muchen, U.S. Muchen, Muc	 PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Read mailing address.) SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Read mailing address.) Division of Régulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research 				
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// NRC, predide Division, Office of Region, U.S. Nuclear, Regulatory, Communication, and mailing address, if contractor, pender President and mailing address, if contractor, pender President and the second address of	 8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, type "Same as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research 	BIOD COVERED (Inclusive Dates)			
PERFORMENT ONE AND ADDRESS (#/MC, provide Dispars, Officer / Report, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Communities, and mailing address. # contractor, provide Magnetics, and mailing address. PSDNSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (# MAC, oper Same a above? # contractor, provide MAC Durbles, Office of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20055-0001 Of Suppresentation, DC 20055-0001 Of Suppresentation and the Project Manager N.ABSTRACT provement with A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ^{17,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁵⁹ Mi, ⁵⁹ L, ⁵⁹ L, ³⁹ L, ¹³⁷ CS, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁴ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁵⁹ Mi, ⁵⁰ L, ⁵	 B. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (I/ NRC, type "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Applications 	Into Coveneo (incluine Dales)			
I PERFORMING DIGGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS // NRC, provide Division, Office of Region, U.S. Nucker Regulatory Commission, Marked Marked Marked Stream Contractor, provide NRC Divisor, Differe of Region, U.S. Nucker Regulatory Commission, Division of Régulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001 O SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager 11. ABSTRACT GROwned of Mull A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the U.S. as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹¹ , ¹³ Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ³⁵ , ⁵⁴ Nb, ⁵⁹ TC, ¹²³ J, ¹³⁷ CS, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,13} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ³⁵ Mo, ^{105,113} Cd, and ^{121,124} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. ^{12. AEXTMACT COMPORENTIAL Commission} ^{13. AUXILABILITY SIATEMENT ^{14. AUXILABILITY SIATEMENT} ^{15. AUXILABILITY SIATEMENT} ^{15. AUXILABILITY SIATEMENT} ^{16. AUXILABILITY SIATEMEN}}	 B. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, provide Division, Office or Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission name and mailing address.) Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, type "Same as above"; If contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research 				
Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 POONSORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (// MRC, reg. "Jame a labor" // contractor, provide MRC Durkaon, Differe of Region, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Applications Mashington, DC 20555-0001 IN JUST LEMENTARY MOTES P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager IN ABSTRACT FOO more are full A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{55,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²³ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ³⁹ Mo, ^{109,1136} Cd, and ^{1210,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. ¹² KEY WORDS/DESCRIPTIORS/Luments externed analysis, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry.	Pacific Northwest National Laboratory Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (If NRC, type "Some as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Rëgulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research	n, and mailing address; if contractor, provide			
Richland, WA 99352 SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS OF ANC, over "Some at above"; if contrains, provide NRC Davidon, Office of Region, U.S. Mucker Regulatory Communication, Division of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 2055-0001 IN SUBSTRACT FOO work of Full A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radionchical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁷ C, ⁴⁶ CO, ^{55,45} Ni, ⁹⁵ Sr, ⁵⁴ Nb, ⁵⁹ TC, ¹²⁹ I, ¹¹⁷ CS, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ¹⁶ Cl, ⁵⁹ Mo, ^{109,113} Cd, and ^{1210,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. ^{12, KEY WORDS/DESCRPTORS (Liw work or show of advanced methods)} IN-MARTING Process (Liw work or show of advanced methormore) IN-MARTING (Liw work or show of advanced method is the streams from nuclear power stations. ^{13, ANALABULIYYSINTERNATION}	Richland, WA 99352 9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (II NRC, type "Some as above"; Il contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Rëgulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research				
PCDNSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS /// MCC, type "Sum a above"; // contractor, provide MRC Durkion, Dffore or Report, U.S. Mucker Reputatory Communities, Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001 OSUMPLEMENTARY MOTES P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager 11. ABSTRACT (200 work or km/) A -comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,60} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ TC, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ CS, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ^{59,60} Ni, ^{105,113m} Cd, and ^{121,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. N2. KEY WORDS/CESCR/PIORS (Linueved or phones) for demistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry	9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (If NRC, type "Some as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Rëgulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research				
2) SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS III ANC. now "Some a dow" "If contractor, provide NAC Durkion, Office of Region, U.S. Nucker Regulatory Committee, Division of Régulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001 10: SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager 11: ABSTRACT (200 words of bull) 12: Asstract (200 words of bull) 13: Asstract (200 words of bull) 14: Asstract (200 words of bull) 15: A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{56,61} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹¹ C, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ CS, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{17,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12: KEY WORDS/DESCR/PIORS Like word or phrase that and merchanistic interest. Iow-level waste, radiocanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry 11: AVAILABULY STATEMENT unlimited Its NUMBER OF FRGES	9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (If NRC, type "Some as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Regulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research				
Dependence 1: Dependence Division of Régulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001 10: US. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-001 11. ABSTRACT /200 words or Main and Second Procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radional stepsion US, as well as identifying new ad	9. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION - NAME AND ADDRESS (If NRC, type "Some as above"; if contractor, provide NRC Division, Office or Re and mailing address.) Division of Rëgulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research				
Division of Régulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001 Dissupplementary Notes P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager IL ABSTRACT (200 word or Hull A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ A1, ³⁶ C1, ⁹⁹ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. ¹² KEY WORDSDESCHIFTORS <i>LLW words or phases that first greaters</i> . In <i>Constitute</i> Tradioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry.	Division of Rëgulatory Applications Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research	gion, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission,			
Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001 ID SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager II. ABSTRACT / DOD words or Mull A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁷ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121e,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12.KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS Line words or phrases that will substreaments in Resent the Resent the Addicative waste characterization, radiochemistry 12.KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS Line words or phrases that will substreaments in Resent the Resent the Resent to the resent term of the rest include the rest of the rest include the rest in the rest	Office of Nuclear Regulatory Research				
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555-0001 Washington, DC 20555-0001 Disuppresentation of the second s					
Washington, DL 2055-0001 0. SUPPLEMENTARYNOTES P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager 11. ABSTRACT IZOO WORK of Mail A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ⁵⁹ . ⁶¹ Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7.10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR!PTORS (Lin work or phase: Net Will will interestion in locating interest) characterization, radiochemistry, radioactive waste 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR!PTORS (Lin work or phase: Net Will will interestion in locating interest) unclassified 13. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT UNClassified 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION URCET'S scified 15. NUMBER OF PLACES	U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission				
10. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager 11. ABSTRACT 1200 words or Mull A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ³⁹ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS (Like words or documentation in Maching Memoor). ⁴ Insecurity CLASSIFICATION 13. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT unlimited The account of a documentation of documentation of the documentation is a station of the action of the	Wasnington, DC 20555-0001				
A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCRIPTORS (Lauword: or phrase that will subtime memory, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry radioactive waste distribution, radiochemistry.	P.R. Reed, NRC Project Manager				
A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations.	11, ABSTRACT (200 words or less)				
A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted to identify and evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113} mCd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR!PTORS /Like word: or prame: that will embers in locating the motor.1 low-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry					
evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61 radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. ¹² KEY WORDS/DESCR/PTORS (LAW words or phrases that will suffit remembers in locating the report.) low-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry	A comprehensive literature review and assessment was conducted t	o identify and			
radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR!PTORS (LAN words or phrase DMA will addit presented to Realing the moon.) low-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry	evaluate radioanalytical technology and procedures used for measuring 10CFR61				
radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS (LAU words or phrases that will estil researchers in localing the report.) low-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry 13. AVAILABILITY CLASSIFICATION UNCT assified 15. NUMBER OF PAGES	radionuclides and other long-lived isotopes. This review evaluated				
US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113} mCd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations.	radiochemical procedures currently in use at a number of laboratories in the				
adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste. The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. ^{12. KEY WORDS/DESCR!PTORS (LAL word: or phrase that will addit researchers in localing the report.)} low-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry ^{13. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT} ^{14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION} ^{14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION} ^{16. NUMBER OF PAGES}	US, as well as identifying new advanced methods and techniques which could be				
The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C, ⁶⁰ Co, ^{59,63} Ni, ⁹⁰ Sr, ⁹⁴ Nb, ⁹⁹ Tc, ¹²⁹ I, ¹³⁷ Cs, and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ A1, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations.	adapted for routine radiochemical analyses of low-level radioactive waste				
and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113m} Cd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS (List words or phrases that will estist researchers in localing the report.) 10. level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry Unimited 13. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT Unimited 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION Unicides Streams field 15. NUMBER OF PAGES	The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ¹⁴ C. ⁶⁰ Co. ^{59,63} Ni. ⁹⁰ Sr. ⁹⁴ Nb. ⁹⁹ Tc	The 10CFR61 radionuclides include ${}^{14}C$ ${}^{60}Co$ ${}^{59,63}Ni$ ${}^{90}Sr$ ${}^{94}Nh$ ${}^{99}Tc$ ${}^{129}I$ ${}^{137}Cc$			
radionuclides of interest include ^{7,10} Be, ²⁶ Al, ³⁶ Cl, ⁹³ Mo, ^{109,113} mCd, and ^{121m,126} Sn, which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS (List word: or phrases that will assist meanching the report.) 10. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 10. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 10. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 11. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 12. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 13. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 15. NUMBER OF PAGES 15. NUMBER OF PAGES	and TRU Isotopes with half-lives greater than five years. The other low-level				
which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclear power stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS (List words or phrases that will assist researchers in locating the report.) 10. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 10. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 10. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 11. AVAIL	radionuclides of interest include 7,10 Re 26 Al 36 Cl 93 Mo 109,113m Cd and 121m,126 Cn				
stations. 12. KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS (Liss words or phrases that will assist researchers in locating the report.) 10. In a VAILABILITY STATEMENT 10. In inited 11. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 11. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 12. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 13. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION 15. NUMBER OF PAGES	which may be present in various types of waste streams from nuclean newon				
12. KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS (List words or phrases that will assist researchers in locating the report.) 10w-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry Unicidential chemistry (Unicidential chemistry) Unicidential chemistry Unicidential chemistry Characterization, radiochemistry Unicidential chemistry Unicidential chemistry Unicident	stations.	eai powei			
12. KEY WORDS/DESCR:PTORS (List words or phrases that will assist researchers in locating the report.) low-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry 13. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT Unlimited 14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION Unicident field 17. In the port of the second s					
low-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste characterization, radiochemistry					
characterization, radiochemistry	low-level waste, radioanalytical chemistry, radioactive waste	unlimited			
Unclassified This Heport/ Unclassified 15. NUMBER OF PAGES	characterization, radiochemistry	14. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION			
(This Report) UNCLASSIFIED 15. NUMBER OF PAGES		Inclassified			
This Report UNCLASSIFIED 15. NUMBER OF PAGES					
15. NUMBER OF PAGES		(This Report)			
		unclassified			
		unclassified			
16. PRICE		unclassified 15. NUMBER OF PAGES			
		UNClassified 15. NUMBER OF PAGES 16. PRICE			



Federal Recycling Program

UNITED STATES NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION WASHINGTON, DC 20555-0001

OFFICIAL BUSINESS PENALTY FOR PRIVATE USE, \$300

1

FIRST CLASS MAIL POSTAGE AND FEES PAID USNRC PERMIT NO. G-67